
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764838  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY 

 
Date & Time - Thursday, 16 September 2021 at 5.00 pm 
 

Venue - Council Chamber, Priory Road, Spalding, 
Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 

 
 

Membership of the Committee of the Licensing Authority: 
 
Councillors: A C Beal, F Biggadike, H J W Bingham, M D Booth, A Casson, A C Cronin, 
H Drury, J L King, J D McLean, P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman), G T D Rudkin, 
G P Scalese, J Tyrrell (Chairman), A R Woolf and C N Worth 
 

Quorum: 5 

 

 If you would like to attend this meeting 
as a member of the Public, please 

contact Democratic Services on 01775 
764838 or at 

demservices@sholland.gov.uk  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode 

 
 
 
 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   8 September 2021 

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Declaration of interests -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation. 
 

 

3.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 5 
November 2020 (copy enclosed) 
 
 

(Pages 
3 - 6) 

4.  Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles) -  
Consideration of proposed amendments to the Gambling Policy 
(Statement of Principles) and approval to undertake consultation (report 
of the Head of Public Protection enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
7 - 60) 

5.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY held in 
This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Thursday, 5 November 2020 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
J Tyrrell (Chairman) 

P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
H J W Bingham 
 

A Casson 
A C Cronin 
J L King 
 

G T D Rudkin 
G P Scalese 
A R Woolf 
 

In Attendance:  Councillors, Licensing and Business Support Manager and Licensing 
Team Leader, Democratic Services Manager and Democratic Services. 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M Booth and M Seymour. 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 
There were none. 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Committee of the 
Licensing Authority that was held on 10 September 2020. 
 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record as soon as practicably possible. 
 

4. REVISED LICENSING ACT STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES  
 
Consideration was given to the proposed draft Statement of Licensing Policy (2021 to 
2026) (Report of the Licensing and Business Support Manager). 
. 
The Licensing and Business Support Manager advised Members that the agreed 6 
week consultation period had elapsed with the draft statement being made available 
on the council website to members of the public and to stakeholders.   
 
Feedback had been received including queries regarding village fetes and 
recommendations from Lincolnshire Police for measures to be incorporated into the 
policy regarding street drinking.  These recommendations are reflected in the report. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3.



- 2 - 
 
COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 5 November 2020 

 

 

The Chairman was advised by the Licensing and Business Support Manager that the 
new recommendations would not immediately affect existing licence holders; only 
new licences and licences that come before the panel for review.  However, the new 
recommendations would set the tone for the expectations of licence holders in the 
District.  Mechanisms are also in place for the Police to make discretionary requests 
(for the items listed in Section 4.2 of the draft Statement) to be included in licence 
applications and reviews.  This was supported by the Legal Services Manager.  
 
The Licensing and Business Support Manager also asked the Members to consider 
the following points: 
 

1. Should changes to the policy made as a result of feedback from the 
consultation period be put out for consultation with the trade? 

2. Would the measures apply to the whole of the District? 
 

 
Members asked whether there was sufficient time for the draft Statement to go to 
further consultation.  The Licensing and Business Support Manager advised that the 
Statement would need to be adopted by January 2021 with the option to adopt it 
immediately followed by further consultation. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

1. That the Committee consider the consultation feedback provided in section 1.8 
of this report. 

2. That the Committee agree a final version of the policy to go to Full Council for 
approval. 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S): 
 

1. The policy is required to be reviewed at least every 5 years and needs to be 
adopted by January 2021. 

2. A full consultation has been carried out and consideration should be given to 
the responses received. 

3. The recommendation is that an agreed final version of the policy goes to Full 
Council for approval. 

 
 
 
AGREED: 

1. That the recommendations from the Police be incorporated under section 4.2 
of the draft Statement. 

2. That the Policy be reviewed again in light of the Police feedback, be brought 
back to the Committee of the Licensing Authority and legal advice is sought 
regarding the length of consultation required in order to implement changes. 

3. That the revised Statement be put forward to Full Council. 
 
 

Page 4



- 3 - 
 
COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 5 November 2020 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS: 
1. Agree a final version of the policy. 
2. Do nothing. 

 
 
 

5. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT.  
 
There were none. 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 7.00 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Donna Hall – Head of Public Protection  

 

To: Committee of the Licensing Authority, 16th September 2021 

 

(Author: Richard Boole – Public Protection Manager) 

 

Subject Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles)) 

 

Purpose: Consideration of proposed amendments to the Gambling Policy (Statement of 

Principles) and approval to undertake consultation. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the Committee consider the proposed amendments to the Gambling Policy (Statement 

of principles) as shown at Appendix A of this report; and 
2) That approval be given to undertake a consultation exercise as required under the Gambling 

Act 2005. 
 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council (the Licensing Authority) to 

prepare and publish a Statement of the Principles (Gambling Policy) that it proposes to 

apply in exercising its licensing functions. The statement lasts for a maximum of three 

years, but can be reviewed and revised by the Authority at any time. This Authority’s 

current statement took effect in January 2019 so the required review process must be 

completed by the end of 2021 to enable publication in January 2022. This report 

summarises the proposed amendments to the Policy. 

 

1.2  The Gambling Act 2005 places the responsibility for the licensing of gambling premises and 

the issuing of gambling permits with Local Authorities, with the associated responsibility for 

ensuring that the conditions on these licences are upheld. Amongst other matters the 2005 

Act deals with the licensing of:  

• Casinos 

• Betting shops 

• Bingo halls 

• Amusement arcades 

• Gaming machines 

• Society lotteries 
 

1.3  The Act requires Licensing Authorities to prepare, consult on and publish a Statement of 

Licensing Principles (Gambling Policy) that they propose to apply in exercising their 

functions under the Act during the 3-year period to which the policy applies. 

1.4  Core to the Gambling Act are the licensing objectives. These are: 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4.



• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime.  

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open manner 

• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling. 

 

1.5  Section 349 (3) of the 2005 Act requires the Licensing Authority to consult the following on 

its licensing policy statement or any subsequent revision:  

 

• The Chief Officer of Police 

• One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority’s area; and 

• One or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority’s functions 
under the Act 

 

The list of persons to be consulted when preparing the licensing policy statement is 

deliberately wide. This enables Licensing Authorities to undertake a comprehensive 

consultation exercise with anyone who may be affected by or otherwise have an interest in 

the Licensing Policy statement. 

1.6  Section 154 of the 2005 Act indicates that adoption of the Statement of Principles 

(Gambling Policy) cannot be delegated to the Committee of the Licensing Authority, 

therefore full Council must adopt the final document. This is different to the granting of 

gambling premises licences which the Act automatically delegates to the Committee of the 

Licensing Authority. It is proposed that the Council meeting on 24th November will consider 

the final version of the proposed revised policy. The timetable for the process is below:  

 

16th September 2021: Draft policy considered by the Committee of the Licensing Authority 

20th September 2021: Draft Policy issued for consultation 

5th November 2021: Closing date for consultation responses 

11th November: Consultation results considered by the Committee of the Licensing 

Authority, revisions agreed and policy recommended to Council for adoption.   

24th November 2021: Revised policy to be adopted by the Council 

31st January 2022: Revised policy to come into force 

 

1.7 A summary of the proposed changes to the Policy (Statement of Principles) can be found at 

Appendix A.   

1.8 The current Policy (Statement of Principles) can be found at Appendix B.   

 

 

 

Page 8



2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 The Committee consider the proposed amendments to the Gambling Policy (Statement of 

principles) as shown at Appendix A of this report; and approve the undertaking of a 

consultation exercise as required under the Gambling Act 2005; or 

 

2.2  Do nothing 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 To ensure that South Holland District Council, acting as the Licensing Authority, can meet 

its statutory duties under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The expected benefit is having a transparent and up to date policy on gambling, and 

enabling compliance with our statutory obligations under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 

one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

 

5.1.1  The consultation document will be emailed to consultees where possible to reduce printing 

and paper. The document will also be available on the Council’s website. 

 

5.2 Constitutional & Legal 

 

5.2.1 It is a statutory requirement that the Licensing Authority produces a Policy (Statement of 

Principles) that it proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling Act 2005 

and that it reviews it every three years. If the Authority does not produce a revised policy 

within the statutory timescale, there is a risk that the Authority will not be in a position to 

process applications, leaving the Authority open to challenge. 

 

5.3  Corporate Priorities 

 

5.3.1 The policy supports the Corporate Priorities and in particular supports the Priority of “Your 

Place” by helping to reduce and prevent crime and disorder, and enhance the wellbeing of 

communities. The policy also supports the priority “Your Health and Wellbeing” by ensuring 

Public Protection can protect and support communities through regulatory activity. 

 

 

 

Page 9



5.4 Crime and Disorder 

 

5.4.1 Lincolnshire Police will be a consultee on this policy. There are criminal offences under the 

Gambling Act 2005 and so the policy will support businesses to comply with the law. 

 

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

 

5.5.1 The policy addresses how human rights are considered in respect of enforcement action 

and also addresses information sharing and data protection.  

 

5.6 Health & Wellbeing 

 

5.6.1 The policy addresses how children and vulnerable adults should be protected from 

gambling related harm including addiction and financial exploitation.  

 

5.7 Safeguarding 

 

5.7.1 The policy covers safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults in more detail and 

includes additional appendices to explain in more detail the risks and how these can be 

managed. 

 

5.8 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

5.8.1 Full consultation will be carried out as detailed in this report and within the policy. 

Consultation will include responsible authorities and other parties listed in Appendix 2 of the 

policy.  

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 The policy applies to all wards 

 

Background papers:- Gambling Commission Guidance for Licensing Authorities 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-

authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Richard Boole – Public Protection Manager 

Telephone Number 07827-827047 

Email: richard.boole@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

 

Exempt Decision: No 

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Summary of the proposed changes to the Policy (Statement of 

Principles). 

 

Appendix B Current Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) 2019. 

Page 10

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/GLA/Guidance-to-licensing-authorities.aspx


Appendix A 
 
Gambling Act 2005 – Periodic Review of South Holland District Council’s 
Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles). 
 
The Gambling Act 2005 applies to casinos, bingo clubs, betting shops, amusement arcades, gaming 
machines, prize gaming, lotteries and other forms of gambling.  Current numbers are:- 
 

Number of Gambling Act Authorisations – Current Figures September 2021 

Betting Premises Licences 8 

Bingo Premises Licences 1 

Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licenses 1 

Family Entertainment Centre Premises Licences 0 

Alcohol licensed premises providing two or less gaming machines 30 

Alcohol licensed premises providing three or more gaming machines 6 

Club Gaming Permits 1 

Club Machine Permits 2 

Prize Gaming Permits 0 

 
 
This Authority works with the Gambling Commission and licenced gambling premises in South Holland as 
well as issuing permits in relation to gaming machines and other forms of gambling. The Gambling 
Commission is responsible for granting operating and personal licences for gambling operators and 
personnel working in the gambling industry. 
 
Any person or business that wishes to operate a gambling business in South Holland, such as a betting shop 
or amusement arcade, must first apply for an operating licence and any relevant personal licences from 
the Gambling Commission. After this they can then apply to the Licensing Authority for a premises licence. 
 
The Authority is required to publish a Statement of Licensing Policy in relation to gambling licensing. The 
policy is intended to guide decision makers, applicants, objectors and others regarding the decision-making 
process. It also states how the Authority will work to fulfil the licensing objectives. 
 
South Holland District Council is one of seven districts situated in the County of Lincolnshire. It is situated 
in the south eastern corner of Lincolnshire and extends over a geographical area of approximately 750 
square kilometres or 290 square miles. It is mainly a rural district with the main town being Spalding, 
however over recent years, South Holland has experienced a growth in population and residential 
development, creating an expanding and vibrant economy.  
 
The Authority has reviewed the current Gambling Act Policy as required under the Gambling Act 2005, 
taking into account experience over the previous three years and incorporating the guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission to Licensing Authorities.  
 
The Current Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles) (January 2019) can be found on the Council 
website at: 
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/5513/Gambling-Statement-of-
Principles/pdf/SHDC_Gambling_Policy_2019.pdf?m=637435502246400000  
 
The Authority is not proposing significant changes to the Policy.   
 
The proposed changes are listed below: 
 

Page 11

https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/5513/Gambling-Statement-of-Principles/pdf/SHDC_Gambling_Policy_2019.pdf?m=637435502246400000
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/5513/Gambling-Statement-of-Principles/pdf/SHDC_Gambling_Policy_2019.pdf?m=637435502246400000


 
1. 2.3. Number of Gambling Authorisations: 

The current policy document details the number of gambling premises licences and permits that 
were current in South Holland in June 2018. The revised policy will be updated to show the 2021 
figures.  
 

2. 1. General Principles – (c) Premises ‘Ready for Gambling’  
Additional paragraphs have been added to that section:  
 
Applicants are reminded that when applying for a premises licence they must have the right to 
occupy the premises. If the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an 
application for a provisional statement must be made instead. 

 
Moral objections to gambling are invalid: It is appreciated that as per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance for local authorities “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject 
applications for premises licences” and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for a Licensing 
Authority. 
 

3. Part C - 1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits/ 3. Prize Gaming 
Permits  
 
The current policy document makes reference to permit applications (Unlicensed Family 
entertainment centre and prize gaming) made by applicants – but does not specifically indicate 
what should happen if the applicant is a Company that does not hold an Operating Licence with 
the Commission. With this in mind it is proposed that the policy document be amended to 
include a requirement that: 
 

• Where the applicant is a Company then a current Basic DBS Disclosure must be submitted in 
respect of each director of the company. 

 
 

Background Information: 
 

Basic DBS Disclosure  
A Basic DBS Disclosure can be obtained at a cost of £25.00 from the GOV.UK website. Most basic 
checks will be processed by the DBS in 14 days. 

 
Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permit  
These amusement arcades are also known as unlicensed FECs and can only provide Category D (low 
stakes and prizes) gaming machines. They do not require a premises licence and are controlled 
through a much simpler permit system. Any number of Category D machines can be made available 
with the permit as these machines are the lowest category and are the only type that can be played 
by under 18’s. 

 
Prize Gaming Permit  
Such a permit may only be issued where neither the nature nor the size of a prize played for is 
determined by reference to: 
a) the number of persons playing, or 
b) the amount paid for or raised by the gaming. 

 
 

4. 15. Local Risk Assessments 
This section has been updated to strengthen and clarify the local expectations in relation to risk 
assessments.   

Page 12



 
This Authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider as a minimum:  

a) whether the premises is in an area of deprivation;   
b) whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime and/or disorder;   
c) the demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups;   
d) the location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, toy shops, leisure 

centres and other areas where children will gather;   
e) significant presence of young children, both residents and visitors;   
f) high unemployment area;   
g) nearby homeless hostels;   
h) nearby gambling, alcohol, drug or mental health support facility;   
i) the area has a high number of rough sleepers/homeless people;   
j) the area has a specific ethnic population;  
k) pawn broker/pay day loan businesses in the vicinity;   
l) other gambling premises in the vicinity. 

 
This authority will also expect local risk assessments to include, specifically, any relevant 
information about:  
a) Self-exclusion details- keeping details of people who have self-excluded 
b) Attempts to gamble by under 18s - keeping details of under-age refusals  
c) Outcome(s) of test purchase results  
d) Anti-Social Behaviour issues on incident logs  
e) Police reports and call outs  
f) Sharing information with nearby agencies e.g. treatment centres  
g) Protections in place when footfall is the highest  

 
5. 16. Local Area Profile  

The statement advising that the Authority is currently working towards producing a Local Area 
Profile has been changed to "this Authority has not produced a local area profile to date. 
However, this will remain under review". 
 

6. Appendix 2 - List of Consultees  
This has been expanded to include: 
 

• Relevant Licensing Consultants and Legal Advisers in private practice 

• Betting premises licence holders 

• Public Health Directorate, Lincolnshire County Council 

• Spalding Pubwatch  
 
 
 
 
Submission of Comments Regarding the Policy Consultation 
Please let us have any comments you may wish to make in relation to the proposed amendments to the 
Gambling Policy or the content of the current policy document. The closing date for submissions in respect 
of this consultation document is 5 November 2021. 
 
Any responses to the consultation can be emailed to the Licensing Team: licensing@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Please mark any emailed response with the title ‘Gambling Policy Consultation 2021’. 
 
We would prefer to receive emailed responses to the consultation document, however, as an alternative 
written response can be sent to: The Licensing Team, South Holland District Council, Priory Road, Spalding, 
Lincs, PE11 2XE.  

Page 13

mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk


 
All comments regarding this consultation will be considered and will help to formulate the final policy 
document to be submitted for consideration by the Committee of the Licensing Authority in November 
2021. Once the Committee has considered the consultation results (and made any relevant amendments 
to the proposed policy document) the proposed new policy will be forwarded to a meeting of the full 
Council for adoption. This will be November 2021.  
 
If you require any further information or advice, please do not hesitate to contact the Licensing Team. 
 
September 2021 

Page 14



 

1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council 
 
 

Policy (Statement of Principles) 
Gambling Act 2005 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
     January 2019

Page 15



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

2 

 

 

 
 
 

Contents 
 
 

Part A 
1.  The Licensing Objectives   2 
2.  Introduction    2 
3.  Declaration    4 
4.  Responsible Authorities    4 
5.  Interested Parties    4 
6.  Exchange of information    6 
7.  Enforcement    6 
8.  Licensing Authority functions    7 
 
Part B - Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications 
1.  General Principles    9 
2.  Adult Gaming Centres    14 
3.  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres    14 
4.  Casinos    15 
5.  Bingo Premises    15 
6.  Betting Premises   16 
7.  Tracks    17 
8.  Travelling Fairs    17 
9.  Provisional Statements    18 
10.  Reviews    18 
11.  Appeals    19 
12.  Think 21 Policy 19 
13.  Test Purchasing 19 
14.  Credit Facilities 19 
15.  Local Risk Assessments 20 
16.  Local Area Profile 21 
 
Part C - Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices 
1.  Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine Permits 22 
2.  (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits   24 
3.  Prize Gaming Permits    24 
4.  Club Gaming and Club Machine Permits    26 
5.  Temporary Use Notices   27 
6.  Occasional Use Notices   27 
7.  Small Society Lotteries    27 
8.  Review    28 
9.  Glossary    29 
 
Part D - Appendices 
Appendix 1 - Summary of delegated powers   30 
Appendix 2 - Persons consulted and Responsible Authorities    33 
Appendix 3 - Glossary    34 
Appendix 4 - Area map of district    37 
Appendix 5 – Safeguarding Children 38 
Appendix 6 – Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults  40  

 
 

 

 

 

  Page 16



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

 1 

 

 

 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council - Statement of Principles - Gambling Act 2005 
 

 
 
 

 

All references to the Guidance refer to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities 

 
The Gambling Act 2005 requires every Licensing Authority to publish a Gambling 
Policy (Statement of Principles), which they propose to apply when exercising their 
licensing functions. 

 
This document is the Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles) of South Holland 
District Council. 

 
Whilst all applications will be judged and determined on their individual merits the 
policy will be the basis of the Licensing Authority’s decisions. 

 
The policy will be reviewed regularly to reflect the needs of the district of South 
Holland. 

Page 17



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

2 

 

 

 
 
 
 

PART A 
 
 
 

1.  The Licensing Objectives 
 

1.1 In exercising its functions under the 
Gambling Act 2005, the Licensing Authority must 
have regard to the licensing objectives as set 
out in Section 1 of the Gambling Act.  The 
licensing objectives are: 
 
i. preventing gambling from being a source 

of crime or disorder, being associated with 
crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime. 

ii. ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way. 

iii. protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  

 
1.2 It should be noted that the Gambling 
Commission has stated:  “The requirement in 
relation to children is explicitly to protect them 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling”. 
 
1.3  practice, the objective of protecting children 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling 
usually means preventing them from taking part 
in, or being in close proximity to gambling.  
 
1.4 The 2005 Act promotes safe practice at 
premises where gambling activities take place 
and this means that licensees and operators 
have a legal responsibility to ‘protect children and 
other vulnerable person’s from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling’.  More information about 
the signs of problem gambling can be found on 
the Gamble Aware and GamCare websites.  The 
aforementioned websites also provide general 
information about gambling, including how to 
gamble safely and where to get help if somebody 
or someone you know has problems with their 
gambling.  This Authority would expect licensees 
and operators to acquaint themselves with the 
contents of the aforementioned websites.   
 
1.5 Further specific information on this 
Authority’s recommendations and expectations, 
in relation to the protection of children and other 
vulnerable persons can be found at Appendices 
5 and 6.   
 
1.6 The Licensing Authority is aware that, as per 
Section 153, in making decisions about 

premises licences and temporary use notices it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it thinks: 
 
i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 

practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission 

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission 

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives and 

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s 
Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 

2.  Introduction 
 

2.1 South Holland District Council (herein 
referred to as the Licensing Authority) is 
responsible for the licensing of premises and 
issuing of permits and authorisations under the 
Gambling Act 2005.  The Authority’s main 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005 (2005 
Act) are:  
 
• Be responsible for the licensing of premises 

where gambling activities are to take place 
by issuing Premises Licences 

• Issue Provisional Statements 
• Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 

welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via the issuing of 
club gaming permits and/or club machine 
permits 

• Issue club machine permits to commercial 
clubs 

• Grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres 

• Receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) for 
the use of two or fewer gaming machines 

• Issue licensed premises gaming machine 
permits. 

• Register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds 

• Issue prize gaming permits 
• Receive and endorse Temporary Use 

Notices (TUNs) 
• Receive Occasional Use Notices (OUNs)  
• Provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of licences 
and permits issued (see section in this 

Page 18



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

 3 

 

 

Policy Statement on ‘Information 
Exchange’) 

• Maintain registers of permits and licences 
that are issued under these functions 

2.2 This Policy (Statement of Principles) is 
intended to provide clarity to applicants, 
interested parties and responsible authorities on 
how this Licensing Authority will determine 
applications.   
 
2.3 South Holland District Council is situated in 
the County of Lincolnshire, which contains seven 
district councils in total.  The South Holland 
District Council area has a population of 
88,300 (census 2011) making it the second 
smallest district in the county in terms of 
population.  South Holland District covers a 
geographical area of 750 sq. km (290 square 
miles) and is situated in the south eastern corner 
of Lincolnshire, which borders the counties of 
Cambridgeshire and Norfolk.  The district is 
mainly rural and is comprised of 47 towns and 
villages including the main town of Spalding.  
These areas are shown in the map attached at 
Appendix 4. 
 

Number of Gambling Authorisations – Current 
Figures (June 2018) 

Betting Premises Licences 7 

Bingo Premises Licences 1 

Adult Gaming Centre Premises Licences 1 

Family Entertainment Centre Premises Licences 0 

Alcohol licensed premises providing two or less 
gaming machines 75 

Alcohol licensed premises providing three or 
more gaming machines 6 

Club Gaming Permits 1 

Club Machine Permits 4 

Prize Gaming Permits  0 

 
2.4 In adopting the Policy (Statement of 
Principles) the Licensing Authority recognises its 
duties to consider the impact of all its functions 
and decisions on crime and disorder under the 
requirements of Section 17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998.  The Licensing Authority 
acknowledges the benefits to the community of 
properly regulating gambling in the district. 
 
2.5 The Licensing Act 2003 provides the 
delegated and procedural arrangements for the 
establishment of Licensing Authorities. 
 
2.6 Licensing Committees established under 
Section 6 of the Licensing Act 2003 are also 

relevant committees for the purpose of gambling 
functions.  Therefore, the same Committee that 
deals with applications and other issues in 
relation to the Licensing Act 2003 will also be 
responsible for Premises Licence applications 
and other issues (i.e. permits) in relation to 
gambling under the Gambling Act 2005. 
 
2.7 The proceedings of the Licensing Committee 
are regulated by Section 9 of the 2003 Act (and 
Regulations made under that Section).  
Particular provision can be made for 
proceedings in relation to just the 2003 Act 
functions or just the 2005 Act functions. 
 
2.8 The functions of the Licensing Authority 
under the Act may be carried out by the 
Committee of the Licensing Authority, by a Sub-
Committee or by one or more officers acting 
under delegated authority.  Delegated powers 
shall be in accordance with the table at 
Appendix 1 of this document. 
 
2.9 Licensing Authorities are required by the 
Gambling Act 2005 to publish a Gambling Policy 
(Statement of the Principles), which they 
propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at 
least every three years.  The statement will also 
be reviewed as required and any amended parts 
re-consulted upon.  The statement must be then 
re-published. 
 
2.10 The Licensing Authority consulted upon this 
Policy (Statement of Principles) before finalising 
and publishing.  A list of those persons consulted 
is provided at Appendix 2. 
 
2.11 The Gambling Act requires that the 
following parties are consulted by Licensing 
Authorities: 
 
i. the Chief Officer of Police; 
ii. one or more persons who appear to the 

authority to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses 
in the authority’s area; 

iii. one or more persons who appear to the 
authority to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by 
the exercise of the Authority’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005 

 
2.12 The Policy (Statement of Principles) was 
approved at a meeting of the Licensing 
Committee and was subsequently submitted for 
approval at a meeting of the Full Council. 

Page 19



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

4 

 

 

 
2.13 It is also published via the Council’s 
website.  Copies of the Policy (Statement of 
Principles) are available for inspection from the 
Council Offices at Priory Road, Spalding, Lincs, 
PE11 2XE 
 
 
Policy (Statement of Principles) please send 
them via e-mail or letter to: 
 
The Licensing Team, South Holland District 
Council, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, 
PE11 2XE 
 
E-mail:  licensing@sholland.gov.uk  
Telephone:  01775 761161. 
 
2.14  It should be noted that this Policy 
(Statement of Principles) will not override the 
right of any person to make an application, 
make representations about an application, or 
apply for a review of a licence, as each will be 
considered on its own merits and according to 
the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 
2005. 
 
2.15 Planning Permission – The Licensing 
Authority will only take into account relevant 
representations related to gambling and the 
three Licensing Objectives.  The existence of a 
planning permission or building regulation 
approval for a premises or activity associated 
with gambling shall not be taken into account by 
the Licensing Authority in determining a 
Premises Licence application.  Similarly, the 
existence of a gambling licence shall not 
prejudice the consideration of any planning or 
building regulation application related to a 
gambling activity or premises.  
 
2.16 In reaching a decision of whether or not to 
grant a licence, the Licensing Authority will take 
account of any non-compliance with other 
statutory requirements brought to its attention (by 
way of relevant representations), which 
undermine the licensing objectives.  Non-
compliance with other statutory requirements 
may demonstrate that the premises are 
unsuitable for the activities proposed or that the 
management of the premises is not adequate to 
ensure compliance with the licensing objectives. 
 
 

3.  Declaration 
 

3.1 In producing the Policy (Statement of 
Principles), the Licensing Authority declares that it 

has had regard to the licensing objectives of the 
Gambling Act 2005, the Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities issued by the Gambling Commission, 
and any responses from those consulted on the 
Policy (Statement of Principles). 

 
 
 

4.  Responsible Authorities 
 

4.1 The Licensing Authority has designated in 
writing, the body it considers competent to 
advise the Licensing Authority on the protection 
of children from harm.  The body is:  
 
4.2 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children’s Board 
 
The reasons the Licensing Authority has chosen 
the above as a responsible authority competent 
to advise it on the protection of children from 
harm are: 
 
• That this body is answerable to 

democratically elected persons and is not 
answerable to a particular vested interest 
group. 

• That this body is responsible for the area 
covered by the Licensing Authority and this 
Policy. 

• That this body is experienced in dealing 
with the protection of children. 

 
4.3 The contact details of all the Responsible 
Authorities are available by contacting the 
Licensing Team.  
 
4.4 Fire Safety – A Fire Risk Assessment must 
be conducted when premises hold any licence 
under the Gambling Act 2005.  This is laid out in 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
Article 9 (6) (b).  Where children and young 
persons are employed in premises who hold a 
licence under the Act, the parents / carers of the 
child or young person must be made aware of 
the matters arising and the significant findings 
from a Fire Risk Assessment.  

 
 

5.  Interested Parties 
 
5.1 Interested parties can make representations 
about licence applications, or apply for a review 
of an existing licence.  These parties are defined 
in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows: 
 
5.2 For the purposes of this Part a person is an 

Page 20



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

 5 

 

 

interested party in relation to an application for, 
or in respect of a Premises Licence if, in the 
opinion of the Licensing Authority which issues 
the licence or to which the application is made, 
the person: 
 
i. lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 

likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities, 

ii. has business interests that might be 
affected by the authorised activities, or 

iii. represents persons who satisfy paragraph 
(i) or (ii) e.g. Members of Parliament and 
Ward Councillors. 

 
5.3 The Licensing Authority is required by 
Regulations to state the principles it will apply in 
exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 
2005 to determine whether a person is an 
interested party. 
 
5.4 Interested parties can be persons who are 
democratically elected such as Councillors and 
Members of Parliament.  Other than these 
however, this Authority will normally require 
written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an 
advocate/relative) ‘represents’ someone who 
either lives sufficiently close to the premises to 
be likely to be affected by the authorised 
activities and/or has business interests that might 
be affected by the authorised activity/activities.  
A letter from one of these persons, requesting 
the representation is sufficient. 
 
5.5 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to 
ask them to represent their views then care 
should be taken that the Councillors are not part 
of the Licensing Committee dealing with the 
licence application.  If there are any doubts then 
please contact the Licensing Team on 01775 
761161 or email:  licensing@sholland.gov.uk.  
Where a Councillor represents an interested 
party, in order to avoid conflict of interests, that 
Councillor shall not be part of the Licensing 
Committee dealing with the licence application.  
If there are any doubts, Councillors will be asked 
to contact the Council’s Member Services to gain 
further advice. 
The Licensing Authority is required by 
regulations to state the principles that it will apply 
in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 
2005, to determine whether a person is an 
interested party.  With regard to specific 
premises, the Licensing Authority will consider 
whether a person is an interested party on a 
case-by-case basis, judging each on its own 
merit.  The Authority will not apply a rigid rule to 
its decision making.  
 

5.6 The principles the Licensing Authority will 
apply when deciding whether or not a person is 
an interested party are: 
 
• The size of the premises where larger 

premises may be considered to affect 
people over a broader geographical area 
compared to smaller premises offering 
similar facilities; 

• The nature of the activities being conducted 
on the premises.  

 
5.7 For persons living sufficiently close to the 
premises, the Licensing Authority will take into 
account the following factors when interpreting 
‘sufficiently close’.  
 
• Size of the premises 
• Nature of the premises 
• Distance of the premises from the location 

of the person making the representation 
• Potential impact of the premises, i.e. 

number of customers, routes likely to be 
taken by those visiting the establishment 

• Circumstances of the complainant, i.e. 
interests of the complainant that may be 
relevant to the distance from the premises  

 
5.8 The Licensing Authority recognises 
‘sufficiently close to be likely to be affected’ could 
have a different meaning, for instance, a private 
resident, a residential school for children with 
behavioural or other problems and a residential 
hostel for vulnerable adults and will therefore 
deal with each representation on its own merit.  
 
5.9 Where persons with business interests that 
could be affected the Licensing Authority will 
firstly determine whether or not a person is an 
interested party and secondly whether or not 
their representation is relevant.  

 
5.10 Representations by such persons that do 
not relate to the Licensing Objectives but focus 
on demand and competition will not be 
considered as relevant.  
 
5.11 The Licensing Authority will need to be 
satisfied that the relevant business is likely to be 
affected and shall not take into account 
representations put forward by a rival operator 
anywhere in the county, simply because they are 
in competition within the same gambling sector.  
The following factors will therefore be relevant: 
 
• Size of premises 
• The ‘catchment’ area of the premises (i.e. 

how far people travel to visit) 

Page 21



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

6 

 

 

• Whether the person making the 
representation has business interests in 
that catchment area that might be affected 

• Whether or not the representation is purely 
based on ‘competition’ as the Licensing 
Authority does not consider this to be a 
relevant representation 

5.12 Representations will not be considered as 
relevant where they relate to demand or 
competition.  
 
5.13 The Licensing Authority will decide upon 
representations from those persons with 
business interests on an individual basis.  The 
Licensing Authority will consider the Gambling 
Commission’s guidance that ‘has business 
interest’ should be given the widest possible 
interpretation and include partnerships, charities, 
faith groups and medical practices.  
 
5.14 With regard to persons representing 
persons living sufficiently close and/or having 
business interests that may be affected, the 
Licensing Authority will take into account trade 
associations, trade unions, residents and 
tenants’ associations.  The Licensing Authority 
will not, however generally view these bodies as 
interested parties unless the organisation can 
demonstrate that they have a member who can 
be classed as an interested person under the 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005, i.e. lives 
sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to 
be affected by the activities being applied for.  
 
5.15  Only Responsible Authorities and 
Interested Parties may make representations.  
Advice on how to make a representation is 
available from the Licensing Team.  Where there 
are representations, the Licensing Authority will 
encourage negotiation between the objector and 
the applicant as to the possible use of conditions 
on the licence.   
 
5.16 Where there are representations, the 
Licensing Authority will determine whether or not 
they will be admissible and will consider carefully 
whether the representations are relevant.  
Relevant representations must be relevant to the 
three Licensing Objectives taking into account 
the Licensing Policy (Statement of Principles), 
Gambling Commissions Guidance and the 
Gambling Commissions’ Codes of Practice.  
 
5.17 Representations are not relevant where 
they are vexatious or frivolous and before a 
decision is made as to whether it is relevant or 
not, the Licensing Authority will consider: 
 

• Who is making the representation and 
whether there is a history of making 
representations that are not relevant.   

• Whether or not it raises a relevant issue, or  
• Whether it raises issues specifically to do 

with the premises that are the subject of the 
application.  

 
5.18 The Licensing Authority strongly 
recommends that representations be submitted 
at the earliest opportunity to allow the maximum 
time to negotiate an appropriate solution.  
 
 

6.  Exchange of Information 
 
6.1 In its exchange of information with parties 
listed in Schedule 6 of the Gambling Act 2005, 
the Council will have regard to:  
 
• The provisions of the 2005 Act, which 

include the provisions that data protection 
law will not be contravened; 

• The guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

• Other relevant legislation and regulations. 
 
6.2 In accordance with Section 350 and 
Schedule 6 of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
Council may exchange information with the 
following statutory bodies or individuals: 
 
• A constable or police force; 
• An enforcement officer 
• Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs; 
• The Gambling Appeal First Tier Tribunal; 
• The Secretary of State; 
• Scottish Ministers; and  
• Any other person or body designated by the 

Secretary of State in accordance with the 
Act. 

 
6.3 The Council may also exchange information 
provided by applicants with law enforcement 
agencies for purposes connected with the 
prevention and detection of crime, but we will 
only share any personal details for this purpose if 
required to do so by law.  
 
6.4 Where relevant, information will be protected 
and confidentiality of those making 
representations will be maintained.  Information 
will be shared by means of e-mail, telephone or 
in writing between the Responsible Authorities 
and the Gambling Commission.  

 
 

Page 22



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

 7 

 

 

7.  Enforcement 
 

7.1 Decisions on all licensing matters will be 
taken in accordance with an approved scheme of 
delegation, as attached at Appendix 1.  This is 
aimed at underlining the principles of timely, 
efficient and effective decision-making. 
7.2 The main enforcement and compliance role 
for the Licensing Authority in terms of the 
Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance 
with the premises licence, other permissions 
which it authorises and any relevant Codes of 
Practice.  The Gambling Commission will be the 
enforcement body for the Operator and Personal 
Licences and illegal gambling.  Concerns about 
manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the Licensing 
Authority but will be notified to the Gambling 
Commission. 
 
7.3 In order to ensure compliance with the law, 
the Licensing Authority will prepare a risk based 
Inspection Programme and will carry out ‘routine’ 
programmed inspections, based on risk 
assessment in the categories High, Medium and 
Low and will also carry out ‘non-routine’ 
inspections as required.  Where one off events 
are taking place under a Temporary Use Notice 
(TUN) or Occasional Use Notice (OUN), the 
Licensing Authority may also carry out 
inspections to ensure the Licensing Objectives 
are being promoted.  
 
7.4 High-risk premises are those premises that 
have a history of complaints or non-compliance 
and require greater attention with low risk 
premises needing only a lighter touch so that 
resources are effectively concentrated on 
problem premises. 
 
7.5 In considering enforcement action, the 
Licensing Authority will bear in mind the Human 
Rights Act, in particular: 
 
i. Article 1, Protocol 1 - peaceful enjoyment of 

possessions 
ii. Article 6 - right to a fair hearing 
iii. Article 8 - respect for private and family life 
iv. Article 10 - right to freedom of expression 

 
7.6 The Licensing Authority may carry out risk 
based operations with other agencies including 
the Gambling Commission and the Police to 
ensure the objectives are being promoted.  This 
includes test purchasing operations to ensure 
children and the vulnerable are being protected 
where required.  When undertaking test 
purchasing activities, this Licensing Authority will 

undertake to liaise with the Gambling 
Commission and the operator to determine what 
other, if any, test purchasing schemes may 
already be in place.  Irrespective of the actions of 
an operator on their overall estate, test 
purchasing may be deemed to be an appropriate 
course of action. 
 
7.7 As a general rule the Licensing Authority will 
consider formal action where there is evidence 
that the Licensing Objectives are being adversely 
affected. 

7.8 The Licensing Authority sets out below the 
principles to be applied in exercising its 
functions with regard to inspection of premises 
and enforcement.  The Licensing Authority in 
carrying out its regulation functions will follow 
the Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators.  

 
i. proportionate:  regulators should only 

intervene when necessary:  remedies 
should be appropriate to the risk posed, 
and costs identified and minimised; 

 
ii. accountable:  regulators must be able to 

justify decisions, and be subject to public 
scrutiny; 

iii. consistent:  rules and standards must be 
joined up and implemented fairly; 

iv. transparent:  regulators should be open, 
and keep regulations simple and user 
friendly; and 

v. targeted:  regulation should be focused on 
the problem, and minimise side effects 

 
7.9 As per the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this 
Licensing Authority will endeavour to avoid 
duplication with other regulatory regimes so far 
as possible and will keep itself informed of 
developments as regards the work of the 
Statutory Code of Practice for Regulators. 

 
7.10 Premises Licence Holders are advised 
that where following the receipt of a warning or 
warnings in relation to a Premises Licence 
breach or breaches, an operator subsequently 
breaches the licence conditions, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to review the Premises 
Licence. 

 
 

8.  Licensing Authority Functions 
 

8.1 South Holland District Council, as the 
Licensing Authority, is responsible for the 
licensing of premises and the issue of permits 
and authorisations under the Gambling Act 

Page 23



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

8 

 

 

2005.  The Authority’s main functions under the 
2005 Act are: 

 
i. be responsible for the licensing of 

premises where gambling activities are to 
take place by issuing Premises Licences 

ii. issue Provisional Statements 
iii. issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits for premises licensed to sell/supply 
alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, 
where there are more than two machines 

iv. register small society lotteries below 
prescribed thresholds 

v. issue Prize Gaming Permits 
vi. receive and endorse Temporary Use 

Notices 
vii. receive Occasional Use Notices 
viii. provide information to the Gambling 

Commission regarding details of licences 
issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange’) 
 

ix. maintain registers of the permits and 
licences that are issued under these 
functions 

x. issue Club Machine Permits to commercial 
clubs 

xi. grant permits for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines at unlicensed 
Family Entertainment Centres 

xii. receive notifications from alcohol licensed 
premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) 
for the use of two or fewer gaming 
machines 

xiii. Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ 
welfare institutes who wish to undertake 
certain gaming activities via issuing Club 
Gaming Permits and/or Club Machine 
Permits 

 
8.2 It should be noted that Licensing Authorities 
are not involved in licensing remote gambling at 
all, which is regulated by the Gambling 
Commission via Operating Licences. 
 
8.3 This Policy is intended to provide clarity to 
applicants, interested parties and responsible 
authorities on how this Licensing Authority will 
determine applications.  Guidance is available to 
assist applicants:  the aforementioned guidance 
does not form part of this Policy.

Page 24



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

 9 

 

 

 
 

PART B 
Premises Licences:  Consideration of Applications 

 

1.  General Principles  

 
1.1 Premises Licences authorise the provision of 
gambling facilities on the following: 
 
• Casino Premises 
• Bingo Premises 
• Betting Premises (including tracks and 

premises used by betting intermediaries) 
• Adult Gaming Centres (AGCs) 
• Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) 
 
1.2 Except in the case of Tracks (where the 
occupier may not be the person offering 
gambling), Premises Licences will only be 
granted to those issued with an Operating 
Licence by the Gambling Commission.  
 
1.3 Other forms of authorisations are as follows: 
 
• Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 

(uFEC) Permits 
• Prize Gaming Permits 
• Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits 
• Club Gaming Permits 
• Club Gaming Machine Permits 
 
1.4 Premises Licences are subject to the 
requirements set out in the Gambling Act 2005 
and Regulations, as well as specific mandatory 
and default conditions, which are detailed in 
Regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  
Licensing Authorities are able to exclude default 
conditions and also attach others, where it is 
believed to be appropriate. 
 
(a) Decision-making 
 
1.5 This Licensing Authority is aware that in 
making decisions about Premises Licences it 
should aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it thinks fit: 
 
i. in accordance with any relevant Code of 

Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

ii. in accordance with any relevant guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission; 

iii. reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives; and 

 
iv. in accordance with the Authority’s Statement 

of Licensing Policy 
 
1.6 It is appreciated that as per the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities “moral objections to gambling are 
not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences” and also that unmet 
demand is not a criterion for a Licensing 
Authority. 

 
1.7 This Licensing Authority also notes 
Gambling Commission guidance on Appropriate 
Licensing Environment. 

 
1.8 It is not permissible for an operator to offer 
gaming machines on a premises which is 
licensed for non-remote betting but not to offer 
sufficient facilities for non-remote betting.  A 
non-remote betting operating licence authorises 
its holder to ‘provide facilities for betting’ 
(s.65(2)(c) of the Act).  Likewise, a betting 
premises licence authorises premises to be 
used for ‘the provision of facilities for betting’ 
(s.150(1)(e) of the Act).  The ability to make up 
to four gaming machines, within categories B2 – 
D available, is an additional authorisation 
conferred upon the holder of a betting premises 
licence (s.172(8) of the Act); it is not a free 
standing right to make gaming machines 
available for use.  It follows that unless a betting 
premises operator offers sufficient facilities for 
betting it should not be making gaming 
machines available on the premises in question.  

 
(b) Definition of ‘premises’ 

 
1.9 Premises is defined in the Act as “any 
place”.  Different Premises Licences cannot 
apply in respect of a single premises at different 
times.  However, it is possible for a single 
building to be subject to more than one 
Premises Licence, provided they are for 
different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can be reasonably 
regarded as being different premises.  Whether 
different parts of the building can properly be 
regarded as being separate premises will always 
be a question of fact.  

 
1.10 The location of the premises will clearly be 
an important consideration and the suitability of 
the division will be a matter for discussion 

Page 25



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

1
 

 

 

between the operator and the Authority’s 
Licensing Officer.  However, the Gambling 

Commission does not  

    consider that areas of a  building that are 
or temporarily separated (for example, by ropes or 
moveable partitions) can be properly regarded as 
different premises.  The Licensing Authority will 
consider the definition of premises and where 
there are such concerns the Licensing Authority 
may address these through licence conditions.  
The Licensing Authority will, if necessary, respond 
to any further guidance by the Gambling 
Commission on this subject by way of a minor 
variation of this Policy. 
 
1.11 The Licensing Authority takes particular 
note of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities which states that: 
 
1.12 Licensing Authorities should take particular 
care in considering applications for multiple 
licences for a building and those relating to a 
discrete part of a building used for other (non-
gambling) purposes.  In particular they should 
be aware of the following: 
 
i. The third Licensing Objective seeks to 

protect children from being harmed by 
gambling.  In practice that means not only 
preventing them from taking part in gambling, 
but also 

ii. Preventing them from being in close 
proximity to gambling.  Therefore premises 
should be configured so that children are not 
invited to participate in, have accidental 
access to, or closely observe gambling 
where they are prohibited from participating. 

iii. Entrances to and exits from parts of a 
building covered by one or more Premises 
Licences should be separate and identifiable 
so that the separation of different premises is 
not compromised and people do not ‘drift’ 
into a gambling area.  In this context it should 
normally be possible to access the premises 
without going through another licensed 
premises or premises with a permit. 

iv. Customers should be able to participate in 
the activity named on the Premises Licence. 

 
1.13 The Guidance also gives a list of factors 
which the Licensing Authority should be aware of, 
which may include: 
 
i. Do the premises have a separate registration 

for business rates? 
ii. Is the premises neighbouring premises 

owned by the same person or someone 
else? 

iii. Can each of the premises be accessed from 
the street or a public passageway? 

iv. Can the premises only be accessed from any 
other gambling premises? 

 
1.14 This Authority will consider these and other 
relevant factors in making its decision 
depending on all the circumstances of the case. 

 
(c)  Premises ‘Ready for Gambling’ 

 
1.15 The Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states that a licence to use premises for 
gambling should only be issued in relation to 
premises that the Licensing Authority can be 
satisfied are going to be ready to be used for 
gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of the building or 
alterations required before the premises are 
brought into use. 

 
1.16 If the construction of a premises is not yet 
complete, or if the applicant does not yet have a 
right to occupy them, then an application for a 
provisional statement can be made instead.  This 
is also the case for a premises requiring 
significant alteration where that alteration is 
unlikely to be completed for some considerable 
period of time. 

 
1.17 In deciding whether a Premises Licence 
can be granted where there are outstanding 
construction or alteration works at the premises, 
this authority will determine applications on their 
merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process: 

 
i. first, whether the premises ought to be 

permitted to be used for gambling 
ii. second, whether appropriate conditions can 

be put in place to cater for the situation that 
the premises are not yet in - the state in 
which they ought to be before gambling 
takes place. 

 
1.18 Applicants should note that this authority is 
entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a 
licence subject to conditions, but it is not 
obliged to grant such a licence. 

 
1.19  detailed example of the circumstances in 
which such a licence may be granted can be 
found within the Gambling Commissions 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities. 

Page 26



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

11 

 

 

   (d)  Location 
 
1.20 The Licensing Authority is aware that 
demand issues cannot be considered with 
regard to the location of premises but that 
considerations in terms of the licensing 
objectives are relevant to its decision making.  
As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities, this authority will pay 
particular attention to the protection of children 
and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.   
 
1.21 With regard to these objectives, upon 
receipt of any relevant representations this 
Authority will look at specific location issues 
including:  
 
i. proximity of the premises to schools and 

vulnerable adults  
ii. the proximity of the premises to residential 

areas where there may be a high 
concentration of families with children 

iii. the size of the premises and the nature of the 
activities taking place 

iv. any levels of organised crime in the area 
 
1.22 When considering the location of premises 
the Licensing Authority may take into 
consideration any restrictions on access to the 
premises. 
 
1.23 This policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each application will 
be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the 
applicant showing how potential concerns can be 
overcome. 
 
(e) Duplication with Other Regulatory 
Regimes 
 
1.24 This Licensing Authority seeks to avoid any 
duplication with other statutory/regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  
This authority will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning 
permission or building regulations approval, in its 
consideration of it.  It will though listen to, and 
consider carefully, any concerns about 
conditions, which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should 
such a situation arise.  It is for the applicant to 
ensure that any other statutory requirements are 
complied with. 
 
Licensing Objectives 
 
1.25 Premises licences granted must be 
reasonably consistent with the licensing 

objectives.  With regard to these objectives, the 
Licensing Authority has considered the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities and some comments are made 
below. 
 
1.26 Preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being 
used to support crime 
 
1.27 The Gambling Commission will be taking a 
lead role in preventing gambling from being a 
source of crime. South Holland District Council is 
aware that it falls to the Gambling Commission to 
ensure the suitability of an operator before issuing 
an operator licence.  
 
1.28 However, this Licensing Authority will bring to 
the attention of the Gambling Commission any 
information that is brought to its attention during the 
course of processing a premises licence application 
or at any other time, which could question the 
appropriateness of an applicant.  
Where an area has known high levels of crime, 
this Licensing Authority will consider carefully 
whether gambling premises are suitable to be 
located there. If there are concerns over a 
premises location, in order to prevent that 
premises from becoming a source of crime, 
certain conditions could be considered by the 
Council to be attached to the licence, such as 
the provision of door supervisors, as provided 
for in section 178 of the Act. Where a person is 
employed in such a role is required to hold a 
licence issued by the Security Industry Authority 
(SIA), that requirement will have force as though 
it were a condition on the premises licence. 
 
Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a 
fair and open way 
 
1.29 This Licensing Authority has noted that the 
Gambling Commission states that it generally 
does not expect Licensing Authorities to 
become concerned with ensuring that gambling 
is conducted in a fair and open way as this will 
be addressed via operating and personal 
licences.  There is however, more of a role with 
regard to tracks which is explained in more 
detail in the 'tracks'. 
 
1.30 The Licensing Authority, in certain 
circumstances, may seek to impose conditions to 
ensure that the environment in which betting 
takes place is suitable. 
 
1.31 The Licensing Authority may wish to know 
the nature of the venue, have sight of a plan of 
the track which would include access to the Page 27



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

12 

 

 

place where gambling is to take place, where the 
operators will conduct on course betting and 
whether or not there are any off course betting  
 
operators. 
 
Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited 
by gambling 
 
1.32 Protecting children and other vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling.  As children and young persons are 
prohibited from the great majority of gambling 
they must be prevented from entering adult only 
gaming environments. This Licensing Objective 
intends to prevent children and young persons 
from taking part in, or being in close proximity to, 
gambling. Restrictions are therefore necessary 
when advertising gambling products that are 
aimed at children or advertised in such a way 
that makes them attractive to children. The 
Licensing Authority will therefore consider 
whether or not specific measures are needed to 
protect children at particular premises. Such 
measures may include: 
 
i. staff training (to include training on how to 

deal with suspected truants and vulnerable 
persons) 

ii. careful consideration of the siting of ATMs 
iii. additional requirements to provide 

supervision at entrances 
iv. steps taken to segregate gambling from non-

gambling areas frequented by children 
v. the supervision of gaming machines in non-

adult gambling specific premises in order to 
prevent children or vulnerable young persons 
from being harmed or exploited by gambling 

vi. Minimum staffing levels in adult only 
gambling premises 

vii. Induction training for new staff and refresher 
training for existing staff 

viii. Maintenance of a refusals register 
ix. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 21) 
x. Third party test purchasing 
xi. Location of entry to adult only gambling 

premises 
xii. Infra Red Beam positioned across the 

entrance to the adult only gambling premises 
xiii. provision of CCTV (with images retained for 

a minimum period of 28 days) 
 

1.33 These measures will be particularly relevant 
on mixed-use premises, and on tracks where 
children have freedom of movement in betting 
areas on race days.  Other such measures may 
include: 
 
i. appropriate signage 
ii. location of gaming machines 

iii. numbers of staff on duty 
iv. not siting child orientated machines or 

facilities close to the entrance to adult 
gaming/betting facilities 
 

v. ensuring there is no accidental access to 
premises used for adult gambling 

vi. With regard to vulnerable persons, measures 
such as the use of self-barring schemes, 
provision of information leaflets and helpline 
numbers for organisations such as Gamcare, 
should be deemed particularly appropriate. 

 
1.34 Further specific information on this 
Authority’s recommendations and expectations, 
in relation to the protection of children and other 
vulnerable persons, can be found at Appendices 
5 and 6 of this policy document. 

 
1.35 The above lists are not exhaustive but 
indicative of examples. 

 
1.36 As regards ‘vulnerable persons’, it is 
noted that the Gambling Commission has not 
defined a ‘vulnerable person’ but states that it 
will assume that this group will include people 
who gamble more than they want to; people 
who gamble beyond their means; and people 
who may not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about gambling due to a 
mental impairment, alcohol or drugs. Whilst 
the Gambling Act does not prohibit vulnerable 
groups in the same manner as children and 
young persons, with regard to vulnerable 
people, the Licensing Authority will consider 
whether or not any measures have been 
taken to protect such a group. Any such 
considerations will be balanced against the 
Licensing Authority’s aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling; each application will 
be treated on its own merit. 

 
1.37 With this Licensing Objective in mind, 
the Licensing Authority will take particular 
care when considering applications for more 
than one premises licence for a building and 
those relating to a discrete part of a building 
used for other non-gambling purposes, such 
as shopping malls. Where relevant, 
applicants will be expected to take measures 
to ensure young persons, and children are not 
in close proximity to gambling. Such 
measures may include siting machines at the 
back of a premises so as to ensure young 
children do not have sight of such machines, 
not advertising gambling so as to encourage 
children, not siting child orientated machines 
or facilities close to the entrance to adult 
gaming/betting facilities and ensuring there is 
no accidental access to observe or enter 
premises used for gambling. 

 
 

Page 28



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

13 

 

 

 
1.38 In the absence of a definition of “direct 
access” between an Adult Gaming Centre and  
 

 
a Licensed Family Entertainment Centre or 
Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre in the 
2005 Act or Regulations, the Licensing Authority 
has identified a Statement of Principles within this 
Policy to be followed in decision-making. Should it 
be established that these Principles are 
inconsistent with the legislation (through statute or 
the Courts), the Licensing Authority reserves the 
right to amend this Statement of Principles as a 
minor policy change without further consultation. 
 
1.39 The Licensing Authority recommends that 
measures are taken to ensure entrances and exits 
from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences are separate and identifiable so 
that people do not drift into a gambling area in 
error.  Such measures could include appropriate 
signage, physically separating Family 
Entertainment Centres and Adult Gaming Centres, 
and supervision of entrances. 
 
 
1.40 The Licensing Authority will consider multiple 
licences carefully and applicants are recommended 
to configure these buildings carefully if they seek to 
develop multipurpose developments and in 
particular consider how they will protect children 
from being harmed by gambling as well as 
preventing children from being in close proximity to 
gambling. Applicants are also requested to 
consider entrances and exits from parts of the 
building covered by one or more licences. These 
exits and entrances should be separate and 
identifiable to ensure children do not ‘drift’ into a 
gambling area. 

 
1.41 The Licensing Authority recommends that all 
staff are suitably trained and aware of the 
Gambling laws, social responsibility and statutory 
requirements related to age restrictions on gaming 
machines. Appropriate measures should be taken 
to prevent under age use of such machines, 
including clear and appropriate signage, an 
approved Proof of Age scheme (such as a Think 
21 scheme) and a requirement for staff to be 
vigilant and aware at all times. 
 
 
1.42 In relation to amusement arcades the 
Licensing Authority recognises BACTA’s voluntary 
Code of Social Responsibility and Good Practice 
for Adult Gaming and Family Entertainment 
Centres. The Licensing Authority recommends that 
operators of Adult Gaming and Family 
Entertainment Centres consider the adoption of 
any areas of the Code that are not covered by any 

current mandatory Codes of Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 

Conditions 
 

1.43 Mandatory and default conditions will be 
added to premises license’s as per the 
Gambling Act 2005 (Mandatory and Default 
Conditions) Regulations 2007.  

 
1.44 Any further conditions imposed by the 
licensing authority must be proportionate to the 
circumstances which they are seeking to 
address. The licensing authority will ensure that 
the conditions are: 

 
i. relevant to the need to make the proposed 

building suitable as a gambling facility 
ii. directly related to the premises and the 

type of licence applied for 
iii. fairly and reasonably related to the scale 

and type of premises and 
iv. reasonable in all other respects. 

 
1.45 Decisions upon individual conditions will 
be made on a case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of measures this 
Licensing Authority will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived need, such as 
the use of door supervisors and appropriate 
signage for adult only areas etc.   

 
1.46 This Licensing Authority will also expect 
the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to ways in which the 
licensing objectives can be met effectively. 

 
 

Default Licence Conditions  
 
1.47 Applicants are advised that any 
applications to amend default licence conditions 
will not be dealt with by Officers acting under 
delegated powers. A Licensing Sub-Committee 
hearing will consider such applications. The 
Licensing Authority is aware that one issue 
likely to be raised in relation to default 
conditions is the hours the premises may be 
open in order to provide gambling or betting 
facilities (for example a betting premises). The 
Authority will only exclude default conditions 
and replace the same with less rigid conditions 
when there are clear and identifiable reasons 
for doing so. 

 
1.48 Where an operator breaches the licence 
conditions, initially a warning will normally be 
given to correct the breaches. If following such Page 29



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

14 

 

 

warning or warnings, a breach or breaches 
occur the Licensing Authority will seek to review 
the Premises Licence. 

Page 30



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

15 

 

 

Door Supervisors 
 

1.49 If there are concerns that premises may 
attract disorder or be subject to unauthorised 
access by children and young persons, then 
the Licensing Authority may require that Door 
Supervisors control entrances to the 
premises.  The Licensing Authority 
recognises that each premises application 
shall be treated on its own merit.  In addition, 
the Licensing Authority shall take into account 
the previous trading history of the type of 
premises proposed and that any decision 
shall be necessary and proportionate. 

 
1.50 Where door supervisors are imposed as 
a condition on a Premises Licence (except 
casino or bingo premises), Section 178 of the 
2005 Act requires that any person employed 
in that capacity will hold a relevant licence 
issued by the Security Industry Authority 
(SIA).  There are however exemptions to this 
requirement i.e. ‘in-house’ employees 
working as door supervisors at casino and 
bingo premises. 

 
1.51 It is noted that in-house staff acting as 
door supervisors at casinos or bingo premises 
are not required to be licensed by the SIA. 
However, this Authority recommends that 
where in-house staff acting as door 
supervisors are provided at these premises 
the operator should ensure that any persons 
employed in this capacity are fit and proper to 
carry out such duties. Possible ways to 
achieve this could be to carry out a Basic 
Criminal Records (DBS) Check on potential 
staff and for such personnel to have attended 
industry recognised training. 

 
 

2.  Adult Gaming Centres 
 
2.1 The Licensing Authority will specifically 
have  regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority that there will 
be sufficient measures to, for example, 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the premises. 

 
2.2 The Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing objectives, 
such as: 

 
i. CCTV 
ii. supervision of entrances/machine 

areas (e.g. use of door 
supervisors) 

iii. physical separation of areas 
iv. location of entry 
v. Minimum staffing levels 
vi. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff 
 
vii. Refusals register 
viii. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 

21) 
ix. Third party test purchasing 
x. Location of entry to premises 
xi. Infra-Red Beam positioned across 

the entrance to the premises 
xii. notices/signage (including the 

statutory requirement in relation to 
the display of GamCare stickers) 

xiii. specific opening hours 
xiv. self-exclusion schemes 
xv. Provision of information 

leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare. 

 
2.3 With regard to vulnerable persons, the 
Licensing Authority will consider measures 
such as the use of self-barring schemes and 
the provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare, 
as appropriate measures. 

 
This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and 
is merely indicative of example measures. 

 
 

 

3.  Licensed Family Entertainment 
Centres 

 
3.1 This Licensing Authority will specifically 
have regard to the need to protect children 
and vulnerable persons from harm or being 
exploited by gambling and will expect the 
applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, 
that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine 
areas.   

 
3.2  Licensing Authority will expect applicants 
to meet the Licensing Objectives and comply 
with all mandatory conditions and Codes of 
Practice issued by the Gambling Commission. 
However, appropriate measures may cover 
issues such as: 

 
 

i. CCTV, specifically sited where the 
Page 31



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

16 

 

 

adult machines are to be situated 
ii. Door supervisors 
iii. Controlled supervision of entrance 

and machine areas 
iv. Location of entry 
v. Statutory requirement in relation to 

the display of GamCare stickers 
vi. Physical segregation of machines 

and areas 
vii. Appropriate Notices and signage 
viii. Specific opening hours 
ix. Self-exclusion schemes 
x. Measures/training for staff on how 

to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises 

xi. Provision of information leaflets/ 
helpline numbers for organisations 
such as GamCare 

xii. Minimum staffing levels 
xiii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff 
xiv. Refusals register 

 
xv. Proof of age schemes (e.g. Think 

21) 
xvi. Third party test purchasing 
xvii. Location of entry to premises 
xviii. Infra-red beam positioned across 

the entrance to the premises 
xix. Appropriately trained floor walking 

staff with regard to the protection 
of children and vulnerable adults 

 
3.3 This list is not mandatory, nor 
exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 
example measures. 
 
3.4 With regard to vulnerable persons, 
the Licensing Authority will consider 
measures such as the use of self-barring 
schemes, provision of information 
leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare as 
appropriate measures. 
 
3.5  With regard to segregation of 
Category C machines in licensed FECs, 
there is a requirement that there must be 
clear segregation between the two types 
of machine so that children do not have 
access to Category C machines. All 
Category C machines must be located in 
an area of the premises separate from 
the remainder of the premises by a 
physical barrier, which is effective to 
prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance. The Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that: 
 

i. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located; 

ii. access to the area where the 
machines are located is supervised; 

iii. the area where the machines are 
located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or 
the licence holder; and 

iv. at the entrance to, and inside any 
such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that 
access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
3.6 In most cases the Licensing Authority 
will be happy to accept a solid waist high 
barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in height) in 
order to designate the adult only Category 
C gaming machine area. The barrier must be 
fixed and not something which is transient or 
easily moveable. 

 
 

 No Casinos Resolution 
 

4.1 This Licensing Authority has not passed a 
‘no casino’ resolution under Section 166 of 
the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it 
has the power to do so.  Should this 
Licensing Authority decide in the future to 
pass such a resolution, it will update this 
Policy (Statement of Principles) with details of 
that resolution.  Any such resolution will be 
made by the Full Council. 

 

5.  Bingo Premises 

 
5.1 Entry to bingo premises is not generally 
age restricted although entry to certain areas 
of the premises will be restricted by law if they 
contain Category C or Category B (B3 and 
B4) gaming machines. If the bingo premises 
operator intends not to allow under 18s entry 
to any part of the premises then this Authority 
will expect to be advised of the same by the 
operator/licensee as soon as reasonably 
possible after that decision has been made. 

 
5.2 In accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, the Licensing 
Authority recognises that it is important that if 
children are allowed to enter premises 
licensed for bingo that they do not participate 
in gambling, other than on Category D 
machines.  Where Category C or above 
machines are available in the bingo premises 

4.  Casinos 

Page 32



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

17 

 

 

to which children are admitted, the Licensing 
Authority will seek to ensure that: 

 
i. all such machines are located in an 

area of the premises separate from 
the remainder of the premises by a 
physical barrier which is effective to 
prevent access other than through 
a designated entrance; 

ii. only adults are admitted to the area 
where the machines are located; 

iii. access to the area where the 
machines are located is 
supervised; 

iv. the area where the machines are 
located is arranged so that it can 
be observed by staff of the operator 
or the licence holder; and 

v. at the entrance to, and inside any 
such area there are prominently 
displayed notices indicating that 
access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18. 

 
5.3 In most cases the Licensing 
Authority will be happy to accept a solid 
waist high barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres 
in height) in order to designate the adult 
only Category C gaming machine area. 
The barrier must be fixed and not 
something which is transient or easily 
moveable. 
 
5.4 The Gambling Commission has 
issued Codes of Practice relating to 
Bingo premises and the Licensing 
Authority expects all applicants to comply 
with these codes. The Licensing Authority 
will not look favourably upon an 
application where an applicant seeks a 
Bingo Premises Licence with the sole 
intention of placing Category B3 Gaming 
Machines only in the premises with no 
provision for facilities for bingo, as this is 
not considered to be in the spirit of the 
Act. This is also referred to in the Gaming 
Machines section of this Policy 
Statement. Applicants and premises 
licence holders are reminded of the 
Gambling Commission’s operator licence 
conditions requiring that bingo is provided 
as the primary activity in any premises 
that hold or apply for a bingo premises 
licence. 
 
5.5 Where bingo is provided in alcohol-
licensed premises and it reaches a 
certain threshold, it will no longer be 
authorised as equal chance gaming and 

a Bingo Operating Licence will need to 
be obtained from the Gambling 
Commission.  High turnover bingo will 
require a Bingo Operating Licence. 
Definitions of low and high turnover bingo 
are available by referring to the Gambling 
Commission’s website. 
 

5.6 The aim of this provision is to prevent 
bingo becoming a predominant commercial 
activity on such non- gambling premises. 

 
The Licensing Authority will take into account 
any additional guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission in relation to the 
suitability and layout of bingo premises. 

 
 

6.  Betting Premises 

 
6.1 The  Licensing Authority is responsible for 
issuing and monitoring Premises Licences for 
all betting premises.  Children and young 
persons are not permitted entry to a premise 
with a Betting Premises Licence.  They may, 
however, be permitted entry to tracks and 
special rules will apply.  The Licensing Authority 
recommends that an applicant for gaming 
machines in betting premises considers 
carefully the location of betting machines to 
ensure that they are not in sight of the entrance 
of the premises. 

 
6.2 The Licensing Authority has an express 
power to restrict the number of Self-Service 
Betting Terminals, their nature and 
circumstances in which they are made 
available by attaching a condition to the 
licence. However the Licensing Authority will 
consider limiting the number of machines only 
where there is clear evidence that such 
machines have been, or are likely to be, used 
in breach of the Licensing Objectives. Where 
there is such evidence, the Licensing 
Authority may consider, when reviewing the 
licence, the ability of staff to monitor the use 
of such machines from the counter. When 
considering whether or not to impose such a 
condition the Licensing Authority will take into 
account the following: 

 
i. The size of the premises; 
ii. The number of counter positions 

available for person to person 
transactions; and 

iii. The ability of staff to monitor the use 
of the machines by children and 
young or vulnerable persons. In 

Page 33



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

18 

 

 

deciding whether to impose 
conditions to limit the number of 
betting machines each case will be 
considered on its own merits and 
account will be taken of the relevant 
Codes of Practice and Guidance 
issued under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
6.3 Applicants and premises licence holders 
are reminded of the Gambling Commission’s 
operator licence conditions requiring that 
counter betting facilities are provided as the 
primary activity in any premises that hold or 
apply for a betting premises licence. 

 
6.4 The Licensing Authority will expect 
applicants to meet the Licensing Objectives 
and comply with all mandatory conditions 
and Codes of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission. In determining 
whether an application meets the 
aforementioned criteria the Licensing 
Authority may give consideration as to 
whether appropriate measures are or will be 
in place to address the matters listed below: 

 
i. Minimum staffing levels 
ii. Induction training for new staff and 

refresher training for existing staff 
 

6.5 This list is not exhaustive and is merely 
indicative of example measures.  The 
Licensing Authority will expect applicants to 
offer their own measures to meet the 
licensing objectives. 

 
.  

7.  Tracks 
 

7.1 Note there are currently no tracks 
operating in the district.  However, this 
Statement of Principles contains provision 
for the event of such a premises. 

 
7.2  Licensing Authority is aware that tracks 
may be subject to one, or more than one 
premises licence, provided each licence 
relates to a specified area of the track.  As 
per the Gambling Commission's Guidance, 
this Licensing Authority will especially 
consider the impact upon the third licensing 
objective (i.e. the protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to 
ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are 
excluded from gambling areas where they 
are not permitted to enter. 

 
7.3 This Authority will therefore expect the 
premises licence applicant to demonstrate 
suitable measures to ensure that children 
do not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities.  It is noted that children and young 
persons will be permitted to enter track 
areas where facilities for betting are 
provided on days when dog-racing and/or 
horse racing takes place, but that they are 
still prevented from entering areas where 
gaming machines (other than category D 
machines) are provided. 

 
This Licensing Authority may consider 
measures to meet the licensing 
objectives, such as: 
 
i. proof of age schemes 
ii. CCTV 
iii. supervision of entrances/machine 

areas 
iv. physical separation of areas 
v. location of entry 
vi. notices/signage (including the 

statutory requirement for GamCare 
stickers) 

vii. specific opening hours 
viii. self-exclusion schemes 
ix. provision of information 

leaflets/helpline numbers for 
organisations such as GamCare 

 
7.4 This list is not mandatory, nor 
exhaustive, and is merely indicative of 
example measures. 

 
Gaming Machines 

 
7.5 Where the applicant holds a pool betting 
operating licence and is going to use the 
entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) 
should be located in areas from which 
children are excluded. 

 
Betting Machines 
 
7.6 This Licensing Authority will, as per the 
Gambling Commission's Guidance, take into 
account the size of the premises and the 
ability of staff to monitor the use of the 
machines by children and young persons (it 
is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or 
by vulnerable people, when considering the 
number/nature/circumstances of betting 
machines an operator wants to offer. 

 

Page 34



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

19 

 

 

8.  Travelling Fairs 
 

8.1 This Licensing Authority is responsible 
for deciding whether category D machines 
and/or equal chance prize gaming without a 
permit are to be made available for use at 
travelling fairs, the statutory requirement 
that the facilities for gambling amount to no 
more than an ancillary amusement at the 
fair is met. 

 
8.2 The Licensing Authority will also 
consider whether the applicant falls within 
the statutory definition of a travelling fair. 

 
8.3 It has been noted that the 27-day 
statutory maximum for the land being used 
as a fair, applies on a per calendar year 
basis and that it applies to the piece of land 
on which the fairs are held, regardless of 
whether it is the same or different travelling 
fairs occupying the land.  The Licensing 
Authority will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land, which 
crosses our boundaries, is monitored so that 
the statutory limits are not exceeded. 

 
 

9.  Provisional Statements 
 

9.1 Developers may wish to apply to this 
authority for provisional statements before 
entering into a contract to buy or lease 
property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light 
of the need to obtain a premises licence.  
There is no need for the applicant to hold an 
operating licence in order to apply for a 
provisional statement. 

 
9.2 Section 204 of the Gambling Act provides 
for a person to make an application to the 
Licensing Authority for a provisional 
statement in respect of premises that he or 
she: 

 
i. expects to be constructed; 
ii. expects to be altered; or 
iii. expects to acquire a right to 
occupy. 
 

9.3 The process for considering an 
application for a provisional statement is 
the same as that for a premises licence 
application.  The applicant is obliged to 
give notice of the application in the same 
way as applying for a premises licence.  

Responsible Authorities and Interested 
Parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal. 

 
9.4 In contrast to the premises licence 
application, the applicant does not have 
to hold or have applied for an operating 
licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they 
do not have to have a right to occupy 
the premises in respect of which their 
provisional application is made. 
 

9.5 The holder of the provisional statement 
may then apply for a premises licence once 
the premises are constructed, altered or 
acquired.  The Licensing Authority will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider 
when determining the premises licence 
application, and in terms of representations 
about premises licence applications that 
follow the grant of a provisional statement, 
no further representations from relevant 
authorities or interested parties can be 
taken into account unless: 

 
i. they concern matters which could 

not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or 

ii. they reflect a change in the 
applicant’s circumstances. 

 
9.6 In addition, the authority may refuse the 
premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional 
statement) only by reference to matters: 

 
i. which could not have been raised by 

objectors at the provisional statement 
stage; 

ii. which in the authority’s opinion 
reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; 

iii. where the premises have not been 
constructed in accordance with the 
plan submitted with the application.  
This must be a substantial change to 
the plan and this Licensing Authority 
notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant 
before making a decision. 

 
 

10.  Reviews 
 

10.1 Requests for a review of a premises 
licence can be made by the Licensing 
Authority itself, interested parties or 

Page 35



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

20 

 

 

responsible authorities.  However, it is for the 
Licensing Authority to decide whether the 
review is to be carried out.  This will be on the 
basis of whether the request for the review is 
relevant to the matters listed below as well 
as consideration as to whether the request 
is frivolous, vexatious, will certainly not 
cause the Authority to wish to 
alter/revoke/suspend the licence or 
whether it is substantially the same as 
previous requests for review: 

 
10.2 The review will be: 

 
i. in accordance with any relevant 

Code of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission; 

ii. in accordance with any relevant 
guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

iii. reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives; and 

iv. in accordance with the Authority’s 
Statement of Principles. 

 
10.3 The Licensing Authority can also initiate 
a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence on the 
basis of any reason which it thinks 
appropriate. 

 
 

11.  Appeals 
 

11.1 There is a right of appeal both for applicants 
and those who have made relevant 
representations or applied for a review.  This 
appeal must be lodged within a period of 21 days 
from the day on which the applicant was notified 
by the Licensing Authority of the decision and 
must be made to the Magistrates’ Court. 
 

12.  Think 21 Policy 

 
12.1 The Licensing Authority strongly supports 
campaigns to reduce the illegal access of underage 
persons to adult only gambling and encourages the 
use of a Think 21 policy within premises providing 
adult only gambling facilities. Under the scheme, 
premises providing adult only gambling facilities 
should seek proof of age from anybody who 
appears to be under the age of 21. The policy 
should create a culture of expectation that in 
premises providing adult only gaming facilities, proof 
of age should either be offered or produced on 
demand and that this should be the norm as far as 

access to over 18 gambling is concerned. 
 

12.2 Whilst supporting the Think 21 Scheme the 
Licensing Authority recognises that some 
premises may wish to go a step further by 
introducing a Think 25 Scheme. 
 

 

Page 36



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

21 

 

 

 
 

13.  Test Purchasing 

 
13.1 This Authority may undertake covert test 
purchasing exercises in order to check 
compliance with the requirement that under 
18’s do not access ‘adult only’ gambling 
facilities. This exercise would be in response to 
concerns about underage gambling 
vulnerabilities in particular sub-sectors of the 
gambling industry. Under the terms of the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions 
and Codes of Practice operators must monitor 
the effectiveness of their policies and 
procedures for preventing underage access to 
gambling premises and products. At the time of 
the drafting of this policy certain sub-sectors of 
the gambling industry had not provided the 
Gambling Commission with any assurances 
that this was happening. Those sub-sectors 
are, broadly, the small and medium-sized 
Betting Premises, Adult Gaming Centres and 
Family Entertainment Centres. 

 
13.2 There are also no assurances in relation to 
Category C gaming machines in alcohol licensed 
premises to which under 18’s have access. With 
this in mind this Authority intends to include 
Alcohol Licensed Premises with Category C 
gaming machines as being appropriate for test 
purchasing – this being in order to monitor the 
effectiveness of their policies and procedures 
for preventing underage access to gambling 
products. 

 
13.3 There are a number of steps which this 
Authority would recommend to operators in 
order to prevent underage access and monitor 
the effectiveness of their policies. These steps 
include the adoption of a Think 21 Policy and 
the use of third party test purchasing in order to 
test the effectiveness of the Think 21 Policy.  
Further recommended steps can be found in the 
Premises Sections and the Safeguarding 
Children Section of this policy document. 

 
 

14.  Credit Facilities 
 

14.1 Credit facilities are prohibited from being 
provided in casinos and bingo licensed 
premises. Cash machines (ATMs) may be 
installed in such premises but the Licensing 
Authority may apply conditions as to where 
they are sited. 

 
 
 

15.  Local Risk Assessments 
 
 

15.1 It is a requirement of the Gambling 
Commission’s ‘Licence Conditions and 
Codes of Practice (LCCP)’ for licensees to 
assess the local risks to the licensing 
objectives posed by the provision of 
gambling facilities at their premises and 
have policies, procedures  and control 
measures to mitigate those risks. In 
making risk assessments, licensees must 
take into account relevant matters 
identified in this policy document. 
 
15.2 Licensees must review (and update 
as necessary) their local risk assessments: 

 
i. to take account of significant 

changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in this 
policy; 

ii. when there are significant 
changes at a licensee’s premises 
that may affect their mitigation of 
local risks; 

iii. when applying for a variation of a 
premises licence. 

 
15.3 In addition, operators must 
undertake a Local Risk Assessment 
when applying for a new premises 
licence. 
 
15.4 The Local Risk Assessment should 
indicate the provision of gambling 
facilities at each individual premises, and 
set out the policies, procedures and 
control measures that the operator has in 
place to mitigate those risks. 
 

15.5 This Authority will expect that the 
manager of the gambling premises in 
question (and wherever possible the local 
staff) are involved in the formulation of the 
local risk assessment. It is also expected 
that a copy of the finalised local risk 
assessment will be kept at the gambling 
premises in question and be made 
available to staff (and inspecting officers) 
at all times. 

 
15.6 The local risk assessment should 
show how vulnerable people, including 
people with gambling dependencies, are 

Page 37



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

22 

 

 

protected. 
 

15.7 Matters that the assessment may 
include: 

 
i. The training of staff in brief 

intervention when customers show 
signs of excessive gambling, the 
ability of staff to offer brief 
intervention and how the   manning 
of premises affects this. 

ii. Details as to the location and 
coverage of working CCTV cameras, 
and how the system will be 
monitored. 

iii. The layout of the premises so that 
staff have an unobstructed view of 
persons using the premises.  

iv. The number of staff that will be 
available on the premises at any one 
time. If at any time that number is 
one, confirm the supervisory and 
monitoring arrangements when that 
person is absent from the licensed 
area or distracted from supervising 
the premises and observing those 
persons using the premises. 

v. Arrangements for monitoring and 
dealing with under age persons and 
vulnerable persons, which may 
include dedicated and trained 
personnel, leaflets, posters, self-
exclusion schemes, window displays 
and advertisements not to entice 
passers-by, etc. 

vi. The provision of signage and 
documents relating to games rules, 
gambling care providers and other 
relevant information be provided in 
both English and the other prominent 
first language for that locality. 

vii. Where the application is for a betting 
premises licence, other than in 
respect of a track, the location and 
extent of any part of the premises 
which will be used to provide facilities 
for gambling in reliance on the 
licence. 

 
15.8 Such information may be used to 
inform the decision the Licensing Authority 
makes about whether to grant the licence, to 
grant the licence with special conditions or to 
refuse the application. 

 
15.9 This policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each application 
will be decided on its own merits, with the 
onus being upon the applicant to show how 

the concerns can be overcome. 
 

15.10 A copy of the Local Risk Assessment 
should be submitted   to the Licensing 
Authority when an operator applies for a new 
gambling premises licence or a variation to 
an existing premises licence. The Local Risk 
Assessment should also be presented at 
such other time as the Licensing Authority 
may require (e.g. during the annual 
premises compliance check). 

 
15.11 Other than at the time of applications 
and annual compliance checks, this 
Authority may also require risk 
assessments to be submitted (or revisited) 
when there has been a significant change in 
local circumstances or at a particular 
premise that might affect the mitigation of 
local risk. 

 
 

16.  Local Area Profile 
 

16.1 The Gambling Commission Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities includes a 
recommendation for Local Authorities to 
produce a Local Area Profile. The purpose of 
a Local Area Profile being a means of 
“mapping out” local areas of concern 
surrounding the licensing objectives under 
the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
16.2 There is no legal requirement upon 
Licensing Authorities to prepare a Local Area 
Profile, but the Gambling Commission is 
strongly encouraging Authorities along this 
route. Where an Authority does prepare a 
Local Area Profile, gambling operators will 
need to take it into account in preparing their 
own Local Risk Assessments for their 
gambling premises. 

 
16.3 This Authority is currently working 
towards producing a Local Area Profile. Our 
aim is that the Local Area Profile will take 
account of a wide range of factors, data and 
information available to the Authority and its 
partner agencies, such as the Police, public 
health, housing and education bodies, 
community welfare groups and safety 
partnerships and organisations. 

 
16.4 The aim of the Local Area Profile will be 
to increase awareness of local risk. An area 
will be identified as high risk, for example, 
because of its proximity to a school, youth 
centre, hostel or rehabilitation centre. 

Page 38



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

23 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

24 

 

 

 

PART C 
Permits/Temporary and Occasional 
Use Notices 

 
 
Note for information:  The Gambling Act 
2005 introduced a range of permits for 
gambling. Permits are required when 
premises provide a gambling facility but 
either the stakes and prizes are very low or 
gambling is not the main function of the 
premises. 
 
The permits regulate gambling and the use 
of gaming machines in a specific premises. 
The Licensing Authority may only grant or 
reject an application for a permit and cannot 
impose or attach any conditions. There are 
different considerations to be taken into 
account when considering the different 
types of permit applications. Where a 
permit is granted, the Licensing Authority 
will issue the permit as soon as is 
reasonably practicable. 
 

1.  Unlicensed Family 
Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Machine Permits (Statement of 
Principles on Permits – 
Schedule 10, Para 7 

 
1.1 Where premises do not hold a 
premises licence but wishes to provide 
Category D gaming machines, it may apply 
to the Licensing Authority for this permit.  It 
should be noted that the applicant must 
show that the premises will be wholly or 
mainly used for making gaming machines 
available for use. 
 
1.2 The Licensing Authority is satisfied that 
the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has 
been consulted on the application.  
Licensing Authorities might wish to 
consider asking applicants to demonstrate: 
 
i. a full understanding of the maximum 

stakes and prizes of the gambling that 
is permissible in unlicensed FECs; 

ii. That staff are trained to have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

iii. The applicant’s previous history and 
experience of running similar 
premises. 

iv. Applicants must produce a Basic 
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) 
check dated within one calendar 
month of the date of the application 
being submitted to the Licensing 
Authority. The Disclosure will reveal 
the existence and content of any 
criminal record (not spent under the 
terms of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act) held in the name of the 
applicant. 

 
1.3 Where an applicant provides evidence 
that he has an Operating Licence and has 
as a result undergone rigorous checks by 
the Gambling Commission, then a DBS 
check will not normally be required. 
 
1.4 When considering any convictions 
revealed in an application the Licensing 
Authority will consider the nature and 
relevance of the offence, how long ago the 
offence took place and any other factors 
that may be relevant. The application will be 
subject to the terms of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act and ‘spent’ convictions may 
not be referred to when considering the 
permit application. The application process 
will make specific reference to the Relevant 
Offences listed in Schedule 8 to the 
Gambling Act 2005. 
 
1.5 It should be noted that a Licensing 
Authority cannot attach conditions to this 
type of permit. 

 

Page 40



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

25 

 

 

Statement of Principles 
 
1.6 As these premises are open to children 
and young persons, the Licensing Authority 
will require additional information when an 
applicant applies for this Permit, as follows: 
 
i. A scaled plan of the premises 

indicating the location of Category D 
machines, Automated Teller Machines 
and any appropriate notices that are to 
be displayed; 

ii. The approximate number of Category 
D machines that will be provided; 

iii. Evidence that applicants have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes that are permissible; 

iv. Evidence that staff are trained to have 
a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes that are permissible; 

v. A Basic Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) check dated within one 
calendar month of the date of the 
application being submitted to the 
Licensing Authority (unless the 
applicant holds a current Operator’s 
Licence issued by the Gambling 
Commission); 

vi. Evidence of staff training by way of a 
Premises Log Book which should be 
signed and dated by staff to prove that 
training has been undertaken and 
understood; 

vii. Training for staff as regards dealing 
with suspected truant school children 
on the premises; 

viii. Policies and procedures in place to 
protect children from harm. Harm in 
this case is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child 
protection considerations (including 
safeguarding issues). The efficiency of 
such policies and procedures will each 
be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include appropriate 
measures such as training, covering 
how staff would deal with 
unsupervised very young children 
being on the premises or children 
causing perceived problems in or 
around the premises; 

ix. The amount of space around gaming 
machines to prevent jostling of players 
or intimidation; 

x. Details of opening hours; 
xi. Approximate numbers of staff 

employed. 
 
1.7 Where an applicant fails to comply with 

the above requirements, the Licensing 
Authority may refuse the application. Where 
there is reason for such a refusal, the 
Licensing Authority will notify the applicant 
of its intention to refuse and the reasons for 
the refusal. The applicant will then have an 
opportunity to make representations orally, 
in writing or both and will have a right of 
appeal against any decision made. 
 
1.8 With regard to renewal applications, the 
Licensing Authority may refuse an 
application for renewal of a permit only on 
the grounds that an authorised Local 
Authority Officer has been refused access 
to the premises without reasonable excuse, 
or that renewal would not be reasonably 
consistent with the pursuit of the Licensing 
Objectives. 
 
1.9 Where the Permit has been granted the 
Licensing Authority will issue the permit as 
soon as is reasonably practicable and in 
any event in line with the Regulations 
issued by the Secretary of State. The permit 
will then remain in effect for 10 years unless 
surrendered or lapsed. Applicants and 
permit holders are reminded that there is no 
provision within the Gambling Act 2005 and 
associated regulations which enable the 
transfer of a permit from one person to 
another. The Licensing Authority 
recommends that applicants for unlicensed 
FEC Permits consider adopting BACTA’s 
voluntary Code of Practice for Amusement 
with Prizes Machines in Family 
Entertainment Centres.  This Code of 
Practice promotes awareness of social 
responsibility and acknowledges that 
proactive specific and appropriate 
commitment will be given to educating 
children and young persons, thereby 
minimising the potential for harm. 
 

Page 41



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

26 

 

 

2.  (Alcohol) Licensed Premises Gaming 
Machine Permits and Notifications 
(Schedule 13, Paragraph 4(1)) 

 
Automatic Entitlement:  Two 
machines 
 
2.1 There is provision in the Act for 
premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to 
automatically have two gaming machines, 
of categories C and/or D.  The premises 
merely need to notify the Licensing 
Authority and pay the prescribed fee. 
 
2.2 The Licensing Authority however, can 
remove the automatic authorisation in 
respect of any particular premises if: 
 
i. provision of the machines is not 

reasonably consistent with the 
pursuit of the licensing objectives; 

ii. gaming has taken place on the 
premises that breaches a condition 
of Section 282 of the Gambling Act 
(i.e. that written notice has been 
provided to the Licensing Authority, 
that a fee has been provided and 
that any relevant Code of Practice 
issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine has been 
complied with); 

iii. the premises are mainly used for 
gaming;  or 

iv. an offence under the Gambling Act 
has been committed on the 
premises 

 
Permits:  Three or more machines 
 
2.3 If a premises wishes to have more than 
two machines, then it needs to apply for a 
permit and the Licensing Authority must 
consider that application based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission issued under 
Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and 
“such matters as they think relevant”.  The 
Licensing Authority considers that “such 
matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to 
the need to protect children and vulnerable 
persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling and will expect the applicant to 
satisfy the Authority that there will be 
sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 

year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machines.  Measures which 
will satisfy the Authority that there will be 
no access may include the adult machines 
being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of 
staff who will monitor that the machines are 
not being used by those under 18.  Notices 
and signage may also be help.  As regards 
the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the 
provision of information leaflets and 
helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 
It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed 
remises may apply for a premises licence 
for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any 
such application would most likely need to 
be applied for, and dealt with as an Adult 
Gaming Centre premises licence. 
 
2.4 It should be noted that the Licensing 
Authority can decide to grant the 
application with a smaller number of 
machines and/or a different category of 
machines than that applied for.  Conditions 
(other than these) cannot be attached. 
 
2.5 It should also be noted that the holder 
of a permit must comply with any Code of 
Practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine. 
 
2.6 Gaming in alcohol-licensed premises - 
The Licensing Authority recognises that low 
level gaming may take place in alcohol-
licensed premises. Exempt gaming being 
equal chance gaming that should be 
ancillary to the purposes of the premises. 
This gaming, however, is subject to 
statutory stakes and prize limits determined 
by the Secretary of State. A nominated 
gaming supervisor should therefore 
supervise gaming in alcohol-licensed 
premises, (i.e. the Designated Premises 
Supervisor (DPS)) and all gaming should 
comply with the Codes of Practice issued 
by the Gambling Commission. As there is 
likely to be limited regulatory scrutiny of 
gaming provided in these premises, the 
Licensing Authority expects the applicant to 
be aware of and adopt these Codes of 
Practice and to ensure that all gaming in 
such premises is suitably managed. 

 

3.  Prize Gaming Permits 
 
3.1 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a 

Page 42



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

27 

 

 

Licensing Authority may “prepare a 
Statement of Principles that they propose 
to apply in exercising their functions under 
this schedule” which “may, in particular, 
specify matters that the Licensing Authority 
propose to consider in determining the 
suitability of the applicant for a permit”. 
 
3.2 The Licensing Authority will require 
detailed information when an applicant 
applies for this Permit, as follows: 
 
i. A scaled plan of the premises 

indicating the location of the 
machines, other prize gaming 
facilities, etc., and any appropriate 
notices that are to be displayed; 

ii. Evidence that staff are trained to have 
a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes that are permissible; 

iii. that they understand the limits to 
stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations; 

iv. and that the gaming offered is within 
the law. 

v. Clear polices that outline steps to be 
taken to protect children from harm. 

vi. A Basic Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) check dated within one 
calendar month of the date of the 
application being submitted to the 
Licensing Authority (unless the 
applicant holds a current Operator’s 
Licence issued by the Gambling 
Commission); 

vii. Evidence of staff training by way of a 
Premises Log Book which should be 
signed and dated by staff to prove that 
training has been undertaken and 
understood; 

viii. The amount of space around gaming 
machines to prevent jostling of players 
or intimidation; 

ix. Details of opening hours; 
x. Approximate numbers of staff 

employed. 
 

3.3 Where an applicant provides evidence 
that he has an Operating Licence and has as 
a result undergone rigorous checks by the 
Gambling Commission, then a DBS check will 
not normally be required. 

 
3.4 When considering any convictions 
revealed in an application the Licensing 
Authority will consider the nature and 
relevance of the offence, how long ago the 
offence took place and any other factors, 
which may be relevant. The application will 
be subject to the terms of the Rehabilitation 
of Offenders Act and ‘spent’ convictions 
may not be referred to when considering 
the permit application. The application 
process will make specific reference to the 
Relevant Offences listed in Schedule 8 to 
the Gambling Act 2005 
 
3.5 In making its decision on an application 
for this permit, the Licensing Authority does 
not need to have regard to the Licensing 
Objectives and will take into account, after 
consultation, any objections that the Police 
may wish to make whether relevant to the 
Licensing Objectives. The grounds for 
decision making as regards renewals are 
the same as for initial applications. 
Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse the application for a permit, it will 
notify the applicant of its intention to refuse 
it stating the reasons and offering the 
applicant an opportunity to make 
representations orally or in writing or both. 
 
3.6 Where an application is granted the 
Licensing Authority will issue it as soon as 
is reasonably practicable. 
 
3.7 It should be noted that there are 
conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by 
which the permit holder must comply, but 
that the Licensing Authority cannot attach 
conditions.  The conditions in the Act are: 
 
i. the limits on participation fees, as set 

out in Regulations, must be 
complied with; 

ii. all chances to participate in the 
gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is 
taking place and on one day; the 
game must be played and 
completed on the day the chances 
are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the 

 
 

Page 43



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

28 

 

 

premises on the day that it is played; 
iii. the prize for which the game is 

played must not exceed the amount 
set out in Regulations (if a money 
prize), or the prescribed value (if 
non-monetary prize); and 

iv. participation in the gaming must not 
entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling. 

 
 

4.  Club Gaming and Club 
Machine Permits 

 
4.1 Members clubs and miners’ welfare 
institutes (but not commercial clubs) may 
apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Club 
Gaming Machine Permit (Commercial 
Clubs cannot apply for a Club Gaming 
Permit).  The Club Gaming Permit will 
enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (three machines of categories B, 
C or D), equal chance gaming and games 
of chance as set out in Regulations.  A 
Club Gaming Machine Permit will enable 
the premises to provide gaming machines 
(three machines of categories B, C or D). 
 
4.2 Gambling Commission guidance 
states: 
 
Members’ clubs must have at least 25 
members and be established and 
conducted ‘wholly or mainly’ for purposes 
other than gaming, unless the gaming is 
permitted by separate Regulations.  The 
Secretary of State has made such 
Regulations and these cover bridge and 
whist clubs.  A members’ club must be 
permanent in nature and established and 
conducted for the benefit of its members 
and not as a commercial enterprise.  
Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of the Royal British Legion and 
clubs with political affiliations. 
 
4.3 The Commission Guidance also notes 
that Licensing Authorities may only refuse 
an application on the grounds that: 
 
i. for a club gaming permit:  the 

applicant is not a members’ club or 
miners’ welfare institute 

ii. for a club machine permit:  the 
applicant is not a members’ club, 
miners’ welfare institute or 
commercial club  

iii. the premises are used by children 
and/or young persons  

iv. an offence or a breach of a permit 
has been committed by an applicant  

v. a permit held by the applicant has 
been cancelled in the previous ten 
years  

vi. an objection has been lodged by the 
Gambling Commission or the police. 

 
4.4 The Licensing Authority recognises that 
there is a ‘fast track’ procedure for premises 
holding a Club Premises Certificate under 
the Licensing Act 2003 and that there is no 
opportunity for objections to be made by the 
Commission or the Police and the grounds 
upon which the Licensing Authority can 
refuse a permit are reduced. 
 
4.5 The grounds on which an application 
under the process may be refused are: 
 
i. that the club is established primarily 

for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribed under Schedule 12; 

 
that in addition to the prescribed gaming, 
the  
 
ii. applicant provides facilities for other 

gaming; or 
iii. that a club gaming permit or club 

machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has 
been cancelled. 

 
4.6 There are statutory conditions on club 
gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises 
and that the holder complies with any 
relevant provision of a Code of Practice 
about the location and operation of gaming 
machines. 
 
4.7 Licensing Act 2003: Review of a Club 
Premises Certificate or a Premises Licence 
for a Commercial Club – Where the 
Licensing Authority is considering the 
review of a Club Premises Certificate or a 
Premises Licence, and that club holds a 
Club Gaming or Club Machine Permit, the 
Licensing Authority may, where 
appropriate, at the same time decide to 
review the status of the permit. 

 
 
 
 

Page 44



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

29 

 

 

5.  Temporary Use Notices 

 
5.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of 
premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a gambling 
operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for 
gambling.  Premises that might be suitable 
for a Temporary Use Notice, according to 
the Gambling Commission, would include 
hotels, conference centres and sporting 
venues. 
 
5.2 The Licensing Authority can only grant 
a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating 
licence i.e. a non-remote casino operating 
licence. 
 
5.3 There are a number of statutory limits 
as regards Temporary Use Notices:   
 
Section 218 of the Act refers to a ‘set of 
premises’ and provides that a set of 
premises is the subject of a temporary use 
notice if ‘any part’ of the premises is the 
subject of a notice. The reference to a ‘set 
of premises’ prevents one large premises 
from having a temporary use notice in effect 
for more than 21 days in a year by giving 
notification in relation to different parts of 
the premises and re-setting the clock. The 
Licensing Authority will decide what 
constitutes a ‘set of premises’ where 
Temporary Use Notices are received 
relating to the same building/site. 
 
5.4 In considering whether a place falls 
within the definition of a ‘set of premises’ 
the Licensing Authority will look at the 
ownership/occupation and control of the 
premises and the Licensing Authority will 
consider whether different units are in fact 
different ‘sets of premises’. An example 
would be a large exhibition centre with 
different exhibition halls. This would be 
considered properly as one premises and 
would not be granted a temporary use 
notice for each of its exhibition halls. 
 
5.5 The Licensing Authority expects to 
object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling 
in a place that could be described as one 
set of premises, as recommended in the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities. 

 

6.  Occasional Use Notices 
 
6.1 An Occasional Use Notice may be used 
where there is betting on a track on 8 days 
or less in a calendar year. The OUN 
dispenses with the need for a Betting 
Premises Licence for a track and the 
Licensing Authority will maintain a register 
of all applications. 
 
6.2 Tracks are normally thought of as 
permanent race courses, but the meaning 
of track not only covers horse racecourses 
or dog tracks, but also any other premises 
on any part of which a race or other 
sporting event takes place or is intended to 
take place.  Although the track need not be 
a permanent fixture, land used temporarily 
as a track providing races or sporting 
events may qualify. The Licensing Authority 
will, however, consider what constitutes a 
‘track’ on a case-by-case basis and will 
ensure that the statutory limit of 8 days in a 
calendar year is not exceeded. 
 
 

7.  Small Society Lotteries 
 
7.1 The Licensing Authority registers and 
deals with Small Society Lotteries.  
Promoting or facilitating a lottery falls within 
one of the following categories: 
 
i. Licensed Lotteries (requiring an 

Operating Licence from the 
Gambling Commission); 

ii. Small Society Lotteries (registered 
with the Licensing Authority); and 

iii. Exempt Lotteries 
 
7.2 Lotteries permitted to be conducted 
without a licence from the Gambling 
Commission and these are: 
 
i. Small Society Lotteries (registered 

with the Licensing Authority); 
ii. Incidental Non-Commercial 

Lotteries; 
iii. Private Lotteries:  (Private Society 

Lottery, Work Lottery, Residents’ 
Lottery); 

iv. Customer Lotteries 
 
7.3 Societies may organise lotteries if they 
are licensed by the Gambling Commission, 

Page 45



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

30 

 

 

registered with the Licensing Authority or 
fall within the exempt category.  The 
Licensing Authority recommends those 
seeking to run lotteries take their own legal 
advice on which type of lottery category 
they fall within.  However, guidance notes 
with regard to all lotteries, limits placed on 
small society lotteries and information 
setting out financial limits is available by 
referring to the Gambling Commission 
website:  
www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk. 
 
7.4 Applicants for lottery licences must 
apply to the Licensing Authority in the area 
where their principal office is located.  
Where the Licensing Authority believes that 
the Society’s principal office is situated in 
another area it will inform the Society as 
soon as possible and where possible, will 
inform the other Licensing Authority. 
 
7.5 The Licensing Authority will keep a 
Public Register of all applications and will 
provide information to the Gambling 
Commission on all lotteries registered by 
the Licensing Authority.  As soon as the 
entry on the Register is completed, the 
Licensing Authority will notify the applicant 
of registration. 
 
7.6 The Licensing Authority will ask 
applicants to set out the purposes for 
which the Society is established and will 
ask the Society to declare that they 
represent a bona fide non-commercial 
society and have no relevant convictions.  
The Licensing Authority may seek further 
information from the Society and in 
particular may require a copy of the 
Society’s constitution. 
 

7.7 Where the Licensing Authority intends to 
refuse registration of a Society, it will give the 
Society an opportunity to make 
representations and will inform the Society of 
the reasons why it is minded to refuse 
registration and supply evidence on which it 
has reached that preliminary conclusion. 

 
7.8 The Licensing Authority may revoke the 
registered status of a Society if it thinks 
that they would have had to, or would be 
entitled to, refuse an application for 
registration if it were being made at that 
time.  However, no revocations will take 
place unless the Society has been given 
the opportunity to make representations.  
The Licensing Authority will inform the 

Society of the reasons why it is minded to 
revoke the registration and will provide an 
outline of the evidence on which it has 
reached that preliminary conclusion. 
 
7.9 With regards to where Small Society 
Lottery tickets may be sold, the Licensing 
Authority applies the following guidance 
criteria to all Small Society Lotteries it 
registers: 
 
i. tickets should not be sold in a street.  

Street includes any bridge, road, 
lane, footway, subway, square, court 
or passage (including passages 
through enclosed premises such as 
shopping malls); and 

ii. tickets may be sold from a kiosk, in 
a shop or door-to-door. 

 
7.10 This approach is consistent with the 
operating licence conditions imposed by 
the Gambling Commission upon operators 
of large lotteries. 
 
 

8.  Review 

 
8.1 This Policy (Statement of Principles) will 
remain in existence for a period of three 
years. However, following consultation, the 
Licensing Authority may make revisions to 
it as deemed necessary. 
 
8.2 Delegated Powers - Decisions on all 
licensing matters will be taken in 
accordance with an approved scheme of 
delegation, as attached at Appendix 1. This 
is aimed at underlining the principles of 
timely, efficient and effective decision-
making. 
 
 
8.3 Inspection and Enforcement - In respect 
of compliance the Licensing Authority will 
take the lead in ensuring compliance with 
the licence and any relevant Codes of 
Practice. The Gambling Commission will be 
the enforcement body for the Operator and 
Personal Licences and illegal gambling. 
Concerns about manufacture, supply or 
repair of gaming machines will not be dealt 
with by the Licensing Authority but 
information will be passed on to the 
Gambling Commission where such 
concerns are found. 
 

Page 46



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

31 

 

 

8.4 In order to ensure compliance with the 
law, the Licensing Authority will prepare a 
risk based Inspection Programme and will 
carry out regular ‘routine’ programmed 
inspections, based on risk assessment in 
the categories High, Medium and Low and 
may also carry out ‘non routine’ inspections. 
 
8.5 Where one off events are taking place 
under a Temporary Use Notice (TUN) or 
Occasional Use Notice (OUN), the 
Licensing Authority may also carry out 
inspections to ensure the Licensing 
Objectives are being promoted. 
 
8.6 High-risk premises are those premises 
that have a history of complaints and 
require greater attention with low risk 
premises needing only a lighter touch so 
that resources are effectively concentrated 
on problem premises. 
 

 

9.  Glossary 

 
A glossary of terms is attached at Appendix 
3. 

 
 

Page 47



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

32 

 

 

 
 

 
 

PART D 
Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 
Summary of Licensing Authority 
Delegations Permitted Under the 
Gambling Act 
 
Gambling Act 2005 - Scheme of Delegations 
 
1. The power of the Licensing Authority  
 

i. as a responsible authority, to make 
representations in respect of premises 
licences under Part 8 of the Act; 

ii. to propose to attach a condition to a 
premises licence in accordance with 
Section 169(1)(a) of the Act in addition to 
the mandatory or default conditions; 

iii. to propose the exclusion of a default 
condition from a premises licence under 
S169(1)(b) of the Act; 

iv. as a Responsible Authority, to request a 
review of a premises licence under sections 
197 or 200 of the Act; 

v. to give a notice of objection to a temporary 
use notice under S221 of the Act; 

vi. to serve notification of intended refusal of 
any of the following: 

 
a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 

Machine Permit (Sch 10 Para 10) 
b. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 Para 11) 
c. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits (Sch 13 Para 6) 
d. And also, in the latter case, notice of 

intention to grant the application but 
for a smaller number of machines than 
specified and/or a different category of 
machines from that specified in the 
application. 

 
vii. Serve notification of lapse of a Family 

Entertainment Centre Gaming Machine 
Permit (Sch 10 Para 14 and 15 (1)(b)); 

 
viii. serve notice of intention to cancel or vary 

any of the following: 
 

a. Club Gaming permit or Club Gaming 
Machine permit (Sch 12 Para 21) 

b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 
permits (Sch 13 Para 16) 

 
ix. create and amend the Authority’s 

application procedures in relation to 
applications for the following in accordance 
with any relevant legislation: 

 
a. Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 

Machine Permits (sch10 paras 5 and 7) 
b. Licensed Premises Gaming Machine 

Permits (Sch 13 Para 2) 
c. Prize Gaming Permits (Sch 14 paras 6 

and 8); and 
 

x. to appoint authorised persons under s 304 
of the Act 

xi. determine that any representations 
received under Part 8 of the Act are 
vexatious, frivolous, or certainly will not 
influence the Authority’s determination of 
an application; and 

xii. reject all or part of any application for a 
review of a premises licence in accordance 
with Section 198 of the Act 

 
2. In relation to the following matters in the 

attached table the Authority will, in the majority 
of cases, adhere to the table of delegated 
functions set out below.  This table indicates the 
lowest level of the Authority which will normally 
exercise the Delegation though the Authority 
reserves the right, where appropriate, for any 
particular matter to be dealt with at a higher 
level whilst having due regard to statutory 
requirements.  For example, an Officer may 
choose not to exercise their delegated power 
and refer the matter to the Sub-Committee or 
the Sub-Committee itself may choose to refer 
the matter to the Full Committee. 

 
  

Page 48



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

33 

 

 

 
 

 
Matter to be dealt with 

 
Full Council 

 
Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 

of the Council 

Final approval of three year 
Licensing Statement of 
Principles 

 

x 
  

Statement of Principles not to 
permit casinos x   

Fee setting (when 
appropriate) 

  x 
Application for premises 
licenses (including 
application for reinstatement 
under S195) 

 Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(a)) 

 

And/or 
 

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
section 169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any 
persons making representations agree to this course 
of action and that a hearing is unnecessary 

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

 

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application 

Application for a variation to a 
licence 

 Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn (S154 (4)(b))  

 

and/or 
 

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under S169 
(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded under 
S169 (1)(b) unless the applicant and any persons 
making representations agree to this course of action 
and that a hearing is unnecessary (S187(3)) 

 

If the application for a variation is to remove a default 
condition and there are no reps and there are no 
proposals by the Authority to otherwise alter the 
conditions this could be dealt with at officer level 
without a hearing 

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

 

The only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application 

Application for a transfer of a 
licence 

 Where representations have been received from the 
Commission S154 (4)(c) 

 

Representations made and not withdrawn under S161 

Where no 
representations received 
from the Commission 

 

Including cases where 
the only representations 
received are vexatious, 
frivolous, or certainly will 
not influence the 
Authority’s determination 
of the application 

Application for a provisional 
statement 

 Where representations have been received and not 
withdrawn S154 (4)(d)  

 

and/or 
 

Where the Licensing Authority considers that a 
condition should be added to the licence under 
S169(1)(a) or a default condition should be excluded 
under S169(1)(b) 

Where no 
representations received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Revocation of a premises 
licence due to non-payment 
of an annual fee S193 

   

x 

Page 49



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

34 

 

 

 
 

 
Matter to be dealt with 

 
Full Council 

 
Sub-Committee of Licensing Committee Authorised Officer 

of the Council 
Review of a premises licence  x  

Application for club 
gaming/club machine 
permits, renewals and 
variations (including those 
leading to cancellation of 
permit) under Sch12 para 15 

 Where objections have been made and not withdrawn 
(Sch 12 Para 28(2)) 

 

Refusal of permit proposed on the grounds listed in 
Sch12 para 6(1)(a)-(d), or para 10(3) as applicable 
unless Authority and all relevant parties agree that a 
hearing is unnecessary (Sch 12 para 7) 

Where no objections 
made/objections have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club 
gaming/club machine permits 
Sch12 para 21 

  

x 
 

Applications for other permits, 
registrations and notifications 

 Where the officer serves notice of intention of refusal 
and representations are received or proposals to 
grant for lesser number of machines than applied for 

 

x 
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits Sch 13 para 16 

   

x 
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits for non-payment of 
fee 

   
x 

Consideration of Temporary 
Use Notice (including notices 
modified under S223) 

 Where an objection notice has been received unless 
each person who would be entitled to make 
representations agrees that a hearing is unnecessary 

 

All cases where a counter notice may be required 
(S232(3)) 

 
 

x 

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a Temporary Use 
Notice 

  

x 
 

Registration of small society 
lotteries 

 Where officers believe there is a reason to refuse the 
application for registration x 

Cancellation of a small 
society lottery due to 
nonpayment of annual fee 

   

x 
 
 
X Indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated. 

Page 50



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

35 

 

 

 

Appendix 2 
South Holland District Council 
Statement of Gambling Statement of 
Principles – Gambling Act 2005 
 
Persons consulted: 

 
 

• Parish Councils 
 

• Lincolnshire Police 

• Lincolnshire Trading Standards 

• Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue  
• Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children’s Board 

• MP 

• SHDC Planning department 
 

• Alcoholics Anonymous 

• Gamblers Anonymous 

• Shine Mental Health Services 

• Mencap 

• MIND 

• Citizens Advice Bureau 

• GamCare 
 

• BACTA 

• Bingo Association 

• British Bookmakers 

• British Beer & Pub Association 

• British Institute of Innkeeping  
 

• Other Lincolnshire District Councils 
 

• Adult Gaming Centre, Family Entertainment 
Centre and Bingo premises licence holders 
within South Holland 

 

• Gambling Commission 
 
In addition a copy of the draft policy was placed 
on the Council’s website during the consultation 
period.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

36 

 

 

 

 
 

Appendix 3 
Glossary of Terms Under the 
Gambling Act 2005 

 

Council South Holland District Council 

Applications 
Applications for licences and 
permits as stated in the 
Statement of Principles 

Notification Notifications of Temporary and 
Occasional Use Notices 

Act The Gambling Act 2005 

Regulation Regulations made under the 
Gambling Act 2005 

Premises  Any place, including a vehicle, 
vessel or moveable structure 

Premises Licence 

Issued by the Licensing 
Authority to authorize premises 
to be used for the activities as 
defined by Section 150 of the 
Gambling Act 

Operator Licence 

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to organisations 
and individuals who are 
providing facilities for gambling 
as defined by Section 65 of the 
Gambling Act 

Personal Licence 

Issued by the Gambling 
Commission to certain 
categories of people working in 
the gambling industry as 
defined by Section 127 of the 
Gambling Act 

Family 
Entertainment 
Centre 

The Act creates two classes of 
Family Entertainment Centres –  

Licensed:  which provide 
category C and D gaming 
machines and require a 
premises licence. 

Unlicensed:  which provide 
category D gaming machines 
in reliance on a Gaming 
Machine Permit. 

 

Adult Gaming 
Centre 

Premises which provide 
category B, C and D gaming 
machines and require an 
operating licence and a 
premises licence 

Gaming machine 

A machine which is designed 
or adapted for use by 
individuals to gamble as 
defined by Section 235 of the 
Gambling Act 

Money prize 
machine 

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the machine 
is a money prize as defined in 
Regulation 3(7) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2009.  Maximum stake 10p and 
the maximum prize must be no 
more than £5 

Non-money prize 
machine 

A machine in respect of which 
every prize which can be won 
as a result of using the machine 
is a non-money prize as 
defined in Regulation 3(7) of 
the Categories of Gaming 
Machine (Amendment) 
Regulations 2009.  For non-
money prize machines in 
general, the maximum stake 
(charge for use) must be no 
more than 30 pence, and the 
maximum prize value must be 
no more than £8. 

 

Crane grab 
machine 

A crane grab machine is defined 
as a non-money prize machine in 
respect of which two conditions 
are satisfied.  The first is that 
every prize which can be won as 
a result of using the machine 
consists of an individual physical 
object (such as a stuffed toy). 

 
Page 52



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

37 

 

 

 

The second is that whether or not 
a person using the machine wins 
a prize is determined by the 
person’s success or failure in 
manipulating a device forming part 
of the machine so as to separate 
and keep separate one or more 
physical objects from a group of 
such objects.  The maximum 
stake may be anything up to and 
including £1, and the maximum 
prize value may be anything up to 
and including £50 

Coin pusher or 
penny fall 
machine 

These machines are commonly 
found in seaside arcades and are 
defined in Regulation 2(3) of the 
Categories of Gaming Machine 
Regulations 2007 with the 
additional requirement that the 
machine be neither a money-prize 
nor a non-money prize machine.  
The maximum stake may be 
anything up to and including 20 
pence, and the maximum prize 
value may be anything up to and 
including £20 (of which no more 
than £10 may be a money prize). 

Categories of 
gaming 
machine 

A  Maximum Stake:  
unlimited  
 Maximum Prize:  
unlimited 

B1  Maximum Stake:  
£5 
Maximum Prize:  
£10,000 

B2  Maximum Stake:  
£100  
Maximum Prize:  
£500 

B3  Maximum Stake:  
£2 
Maximum Prize:  
£500 

B4  Maximum Stake:  
£2 
Maximum Prize:  
£400 

C  Maximum Stake:  
£1 
Maximum Prize:  
£100 

D  Maximum Stake:  

10p or 30p when 
non- monetary 
prize  
Maximum Prize:  
£5 cash or £8 non-
monetary prize 

Betting machine 
remote 

A machine designed or adapted 
for use to bet on future real 
events as defined by Section 
235(2) (c) of the Gambling Act 

Gambling 
remote 

Gambling in which persons 
participate by the use of remote 
communication as defined by 
Section 4 of the Gambling Act 

Communication 

Communication using -  
The internet  
Telephone  
Television 
Radio, or 
Any other type of 
electronic or other 
technology as defined by 
Section 4(2) of the 
Gambling Act. 

Travelling fair 

A fair wholly or principally 
providing amusements and that 
has been provided wholly or 
principally by persons who travel 
from place to place for the 
purpose of providing fairs, and 

On a site used for fairs for no 
more than 27 days per calendar 
year 

As defined by Section 286 of the 
Gambling Act 

Code of 
Practice 

Means any relevant Code of 
Practice under Section 24 of the 
Gambling Act 2005 

Responsible 
Authority 

For the purposes of this Act, the 
following are responsible 
authorities in relation to premises: 

i. The Licensing Authority in 
whose area the premises 
are wholly or mainly 
situated (South Holland 
District Council); 

ii. The Gambling 
Commission; 

iii. Lincolnshire Police; 

iv. Lincolnshire Fire and 

Page 53



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

38 

 

 

Rescue; 

v. Planning Department, 
South Holland District 
Council; 

vi. Public Protection 
Manager, South Holland 
District Council 

vii. Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Children’s Board, 
Lincolnshire County 
Council; 

viii. HM Revenue and 
Customs. 

ix. Any other person/body 
prescribed by 
Regulations. 

Interested party 

For the purposes of this Act, a 
person is an interested party in 
relation to a premises licence if, in 
the opinion of the Licensing 
Authority which issues the licence 
or to which the application is 
made, the person: 

i. Lives sufficiently close to 
the premises to be likely 
to be affected by the 
authorised activities; 

ii. Has business interests 
that might be affected by 
the authorised activities; 

iii. c)  Represents persons 
who satisfy i) or ii) above. 

 

Vulnerable 
persons 

Whilst there is no statutory 
definition this authority considers 
that this group includes people 
who gamble more than they want 
to;  people who gamble beyond 
their means;  and people who may 
not be able to make informed or 
balanced decisions about 
gambling due to a mental 
impairment, alcohol or drugs. 

Disorder 

An angry, possibly violent, 
expression of dissatisfaction by an 
individual(s) or crowd of people.  
Linked with the crime and disorder 
licensing objective. 

Nuisance 
An activity or event which causes 
annoyance or disturbance to an 
affected individual(s). 

Self-barring 
A scheme to enable individuals to 
request exclusion from premises 
licensed for gambling activities. 

 
 

Page 54



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

39 

 

 

 
36 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 4 
Map of South Holland District 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Page 55



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

40 

 

 

Appendix 5 
Safeguarding Children 

 
What are the risks to Children? 
 
The risks will vary, depending on the type of 
gambling activities taking place at the 
premises. For example, at Adult Gaming 
Centres, Off-Course (High Street) Betting 
Premises or Casinos, safeguarding systems 
should be in place to prevent young people 
gaining access to the premises. 
 
If children are permitted access to adult 
gambling activities, they may be at risk of 
being: 
 
i. exposed to information or advertisements 

encouraging them to gamble 
ii. allowed, or invited to gamble or bet in a 

commercial setting 
iii. allowed to purchase and consume alcohol 

(casino premises) 
iv. financially exploited. 
 
They may also witness, or be involved in, other 
dangerous or threatening behaviour. 
 
Managing the risks 
 
To prevent children and young people accessing 
adult gambling activities, stringent safeguarding 
measures should be in place, examples of such 
measures could include: 
 
i. the Challenge 25 scheme operated by all 

door and bar staff and only recognised proof 
of age accepted (for example photo driving 
licence or passport; PASS cards) 

ii. all points of entry monitored by security 
staff/CCTV 

iii. signage prominently displayed at all points 
of entry regarding the prohibition of under 
18’s 

iv. signage displayed on machines highlighting 
age restrictions 

v. signage prominently displayed in bar areas 
regarding the law and the sale of alcohol 

vi. operating a membership scheme 
vii. all staff being trained to be vigilant and 

respond if a child gains illegal access to 
premises. 

 

If a premises offers a range of gambling 
activities (for example, a licensed Family 
Entertainment Centre or Bingo Premises) 
premises must operate systems to ensure that 
under 18’s are prevented from accessing areas 
where adult activities (such as betting or high 
stakes gambling) take place; or where adult 
gaming machines are located. 

 
The measures set out above should be used to 
help the public clearly identify from which areas 
children are prohibited. 

 
If a premise offers a variety of activities, it may 
be necessary to operate the following 
systems: 

 
i. designated family-friendly areas using 

physical barriers/cordons to segregate 
these from restricted areas 

ii. points of access/egress located for easy 
supervision by staff and regularly 
monitored 

iii. signage displayed to indicate access rules 
iv. signage to remind parents/adults of their 

responsibilities 
v. use of screens 
vi. use of the Challenge 25 scheme 
vii. assigning at least one member of staff as a 

‘Children’s Safeguarding Lead’ 
viii. Premises should ensure that the 

environment to which they allow children 
access is safe and suitable. 

 
Action should be taken if adults demonstrate 
irresponsible behaviour, such as showing signs 
of intoxication, using strong or offensive 
language, threatening behaviour, or violence 
towards others or towards machinery. 

 
Adults accompanying children should be 
encouraged to supervise them, to minimise the 
risk of children being exposed to inappropriate 
or dangerous behaviour or gaining access to 
prohibited areas of the premises. 

 
The employment of children and 
young people 

 
The Gambling Act 2005 does not prohibit the 
employment of children and young people at 
some premises. 

 

Page 56



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

41 

 

 

 
However, it does restrict the type of tasks and 
areas to which children and young people may 
have access and it is important that premises 
comply with these restrictions, as failure to do 
so may result in committing an offence; for 
example, it is an offence to employ children 
and young people to provide facilities for 
gambling, or to perform a function in relation to a 
gaming machine, at any time. 
 
Children should not be exposed to gambling as 
they carry out their employment functions. 

Page 57



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

42 

 

 

 

Appendix 6 
Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults 

 
The Gambling Commission puts a high priority 
on the social responsibilities operators have to 
protect vulnerable adults from the harm 
associated with gambling; and policies must 
be in place to support the protection of 
vulnerable adults. 
 
Who is a vulnerable adult? 
 
Adults may be vulnerable if, for example, they 
are taking certain types of prescribed 
medication which may impair their judgement 
or prevent them making informed, balanced 
decisions about gambling; or if they are 
intoxicated from misusing drugs or alcohol. 
 
If an adult has mental health issues, a mental 
impairment or problems with addiction, they 
may also be vulnerable as they may have 
difficulty controlling their activities or 
behaviour, or understanding the players’ 
guides to games. 
 
What are the risks to vulnerable 
adults? 
 
If vulnerable adults are not supported within 
the gambling environment they may be at risk 
of: 
 
i. gambling beyond their financial means 
ii. problems with addiction 
iii. financial exploitation 
iv. causing, or being a victim of dangerous, 

abusive or threatening behavior 
v. physical, emotional or accidental harm. 
 
These difficulties may have a serious impact 
upon the person’s relationships, home life or 
employment. 
 

Managing the risks and being 
socially responsible 
 
Premises should consider the following steps: 
 
i. Designate a member of staff to lead on 

problem gambling issues. 
ii. Train staff on how to recognise and 

respond to indicators of concern. 
iii. Staff should be trained to recognise the 

signs of persons becoming aggressive 
and how to deal with such situations 
whilst maintaining their own safety. 

iv. Information should be made 
readily/discreetly available to customers 
on how to gamble responsibly and seek 
help in respect of problem gambling. 

v. Offer a self-exclusion, or self-limit 
scheme, enabling individuals to restrict 
the amount of time or money they 
spend. 

vi. When offering membership schemes, the 
details of a contactable person should be 
required in the event of an emergency. 

ding Children 
 

Page 58



South Holland District Council Policy (Statement of Principles) - Gambling Act 2005 

43 

 

 

Appendix 5 
Safeguarding Children 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

South Holland District Council 
Council Offices Priory Road Spalding Lincolnshire PE11 2XE   

Tel: 01775 761161   
email: licensing@sholland.gov.uk www.sholland.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

Page 59

mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk
mailto:licensing@sholland.gov.uk


 

 

Page 60


	Agenda
	3. Minutes
	4. Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles)
	Appendix 1 for Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles)
	Appendix 2 for Gambling Act Policy (Statement of Principles)
	iv. any levels of organised crime in the area
	i. staff training (to include training on how to deal with suspected truants and vulnerable persons)
	ii. careful consideration of the siting of ATMs
	iii. additional requirements to provide supervision at entrances
	3.6 In most cases the Licensing Authority will be happy to accept a solid waist high barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in height) in order to designate the adult only Category C gaming machine area. The barrier must be fixed and not something which is t...
	5.1 Entry to bingo premises is not generally age restricted although entry to certain areas of the premises will be restricted by law if they contain Category C or Category B (B3 and B4) gaming machines. If the bingo premises operator intends not to a...
	5.3 In most cases the Licensing Authority will be happy to accept a solid waist high barrier (e.g. 1.1 to 1.4 metres in height) in order to designate the adult only Category C gaming machine area. The barrier must be fixed and not something which is t...
	16.1 The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities includes a recommendation for Local Authorities to produce a Local Area Profile. The purpose of a Local Area Profile being a means of “mapping out” local areas of concern surrounding the l...
	16.2 There is no legal requirement upon Licensing Authorities to prepare a Local Area Profile, but the Gambling Commission is strongly encouraging Authorities along this route. Where an Authority does prepare a Local Area Profile, gambling operators w...
	4.7 Licensing Act 2003: Review of a Club Premises Certificate or a Premises Licence for a Commercial Club – Where the Licensing Authority is considering the review of a Club Premises Certificate or a Premises Licence, and that club holds a Club Gaming...
	If a premises offers a range of gambling activities (for example, a licensed Family Entertainment Centre or Bingo Premises) premises must operate systems to ensure that under 18’s are prevented from accessing areas where adult activities (such as bet...
	The measures set out above should be used to help the public clearly identify from which areas children are prohibited.
	If a premise offers a variety of activities, it may be necessary to operate the following systems:
	i. designated family-friendly areas using physical barriers/cordons to segregate these from restricted areas
	ii. points of access/egress located for easy supervision by staff and regularly monitored
	iii. signage displayed to indicate access rules
	iv. signage to remind parents/adults of their responsibilities
	v. use of screens
	vi. use of the Challenge 25 scheme
	vii. assigning at least one member of staff as a ‘Children’s Safeguarding Lead’
	viii. Premises should ensure that the environment to which they allow children access is safe and suitable.
	The Gambling Commission puts a high priority on the social responsibilities operators have to protect vulnerable adults from the harm associated with gambling; and policies must be in place to support the protection of vulnerable adults.



